
  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/ 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING NOTICE 

FOR FURTHER INFORMATION CONTACT: 
Grant E. Bauman 
R2PC Principal Planner 
(517) 768-6711 
gbauman@co.jackson.mi.us 

DATE: February 14, 2019 

TIME: 6:00 p.m. 

PLACE: 5th Floor Commission Chambers 
 Jackson County Tower Building 
 120 W. Michigan Avenue 
 Jackson, Michigan 49201 

MEETING AGENDA 
 

1. Call to order and pledge of allegiance 

2. Public comment [3 MINUTE LIMIT] 

3. Approval of minutes 

Approval of the January 10, 2019, meeting minutes [ACTION] ..............................................................  3 

4. Approval of agenda 

Approval of the February 14, 2019, meeting agenda [ACTION] 

5. Request(s) for review, comment, and recommendation 

a. Consideration of township zoning amendment(s) 

(1) CZ #19-01 –Blackman Township [ACTION] .................................................................................  5 

(2) CZ #19-02 –Leoni Township [ACTION]......................................................................................  25 

b. Consideration of master plan(s) – None 

(1) MP #19-02 –Liberty Township [ACTION] ..................................................................................  71 

(2) MP #19-03 –Napoleon Township [ACTION] .............................................................................  81 

c. Farmland and Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s) – None 

6. Other business 

a. Unfinished business – None 

(1) Jackson County Master Plan [DISCUSSION] 

b. New business – None 

7. Public comment [2 MINUTE LIMIT] 

8. Commissioner comment 

9. Adjournment 

 

The next meeting of the Jackson County Planning Commission is scheduled for March 14, 2019 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 1 



This page is intentionally blank. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 2 



 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MEETING MINUTES 
January 10, 2019 

Jackson County Tower Building ● Jackson, Michigan 

Members Present: Roger Gaede, Environment; Amy Guerriero, Industry and Economics; Nancy 
Hawley, At Large; Ted Hilleary, Education; Jennifer Morris, At Large;  

 Members Absent: Timothy Burns, At Large; Russ Jennings, At Large; and Jim Videto, Agriculture 

 Liaisons Present: Grant Bauman, Principal Planner 

 Others Present: None 

Item 1. Call to Order and Pledge of Allegiance. The meeting was called to order at 6:00 p.m. by 
Chair Guerriero. Those in attendance rose and joined in the Pledge of Allegiance. 

Item 2. Public Comment. There was no public comment. 

Item 3. Approval of Minutes. A motion was made by Comm. Hilleary, and seconded by Comm. 
Morris, to approve the minutes of the December 13, 2018, meeting as presented. The mo-
tion was approved unanimously. 

Item 4. Approval of the Agenda. Staff requested that the election of officers be added under new 
business as agenda item #6.b.(1). A motion was made by Comm. Morris, and seconded by 
Comm. Hilleary, to approve the January 10, 2019, meeting agenda as amended. The motion 
was approved unanimously. 

Item 5. Request(s) for Review, Comment, and Recommendation. 

a. Consideration of Township Zoning Amendment(s). None. 

b. Consideration of Master Plan(s). 

(1) MP19-01 – Blackman Township Master Plan 

Staff summarized its report on the proposed Blackman Charter Township Master 
Plan (please see the staff report). County Planning Commissioners were advised to 
state that in the opinion of the Commission, the proposed master plan is generally 
consistent with: (1) the master plans of adjacent Jackson County municipalities and 
(2) the Jackson Community Comprehensive Plan. 

A motion was made by Comm. Morris, and seconded by Comm. Hilleary, to concur 
with the staff advisement (please see the staff report). The motion was approved 
unanimously. 

c. Farmland & Open Space Preservation Program (PA 116) application(s). None. 

Item 6. Other Business. 

a. Unfinished Business. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 3 



12/13/18 JCPC Minutes | Page 2 
 

(1) Jackson County Master Plan. The Commission is in the beginning stages of creat-
ing the next edition of the countywide master plan. 

(a) Demographics. Staff briefly reviewed the demographic information compiled 
for the master plan update. Commissioners requested that the information re-
garding the population below the poverty level be reworded. Comm. Hilleary 
also asked that the data be posted on the JCPC webpage. 

(b) Mapping. Staff also presented several maps developed for the master plan. The 
maps illustrate: ‘municipalities and places’, ‘major community facilities’, and 
‘property assessment’. Commissioners requested that several facilities be added 
to the ‘major community facilities’ map and that the legend be corrected on the 
‘property assessment’ map. 

Comm. Guerriero requested that staff send a memo to the County Administrator to 
update him on the master planning efforts of the JCPC. 

b. New Business. 

(1) Election of officers. 

(a) Election of the Chair. A motion was made by Comm. Gaede, and seconded by 
Comm. Hilleary, that Comm. Guerriero continue to serve as the Chair of the 
JCPC for 2019. The motion was approved unanimously. 

(b) Election of the Secretary. A motion was made by Comm. Gaede, and se-
conded by Comm. Hilleary, that Comm. Morris continue to serve as the Secre-
tary of the JCPC for 2019. The motion was approved unanimously. 

Item 7. Public Comment. There was no public comment. 

Item 8. Commissioner Comment. Comm. Hilleary noted the passage of a recent law (sponsored 
by State Senator Shirkey and signed by Governor Snyder) allowing a ‘dental therapist’ to 
provide fillings and other basic dental services, benefiting the rural population of Michigan 

Item 9. Adjournment. The meeting was adjourned by Chair Guerriero at 7:20 p.m. 

 

Respectfully submitted by:  
Grant Bauman, Recording Secretary 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 4 



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #19-01 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: February 14, 2019 

 Proposal: ‘Solar Energy Systems’ in Blackman Charter Township 

The Request 

The Blackman Charter Township Planning Commission considered zoning ordinance amendments to ad-
dress the regulation of ‘Solar Energy Systems’. The proposed amendments would: 

 Add all of the regulations pertaining to the various types of Solar Energy Systems as Sec. 5.26 of 
Article V (Supplemental Regulations) of the Blackman Charter Township Zoning Ordinance. The 
Township Board removed Sec. 5.25 from the zoning ordinance on 12/18/17; consequently, the 
amendment should be renumbered Sec. 5.25. 

Background Information 

Blackman Charter Township makes a differentiation among several types of Solar Energy Systems: 

 An Accessory Solar Energy System is accessory to the principal use of a property and designed 
to supply on-site energy (although excess energy can be sold back to the electrical grid). The 
maximum size is ≤5 acres. 

 A Community Solar Energy System (CSES) is a large scale facility designed to provide retail elec-
tric power to multiple community members or businesses The minimum size is >5 acres. 

 A Solar Farm is a large scale facility designed to provide the wholesale sale of electric power to 
multiple community members or businesses The minimum size is >5 acres. 

Accessory Solar Energy System 

The regulations for accessory solar energy systems are proposed as Sec. 5.26.2 – Permitted Use Stand-
ards for Accessory Solar Systems. 

 Allowable Districts. Allowed as a permitted use in all zoning districts. 

 Height. Ground-mounted facilities may not exceed a height of 14 feet, but there are no regula-
tions regarding building mounted facilities (e.g., prohibitions against exceeding maximum build-
ing heights and the extension of facilities beyond the roof edge). 

 Size. Limited to 5% of the area of the property, up to 5 acres. 

 Setbacks. The minimum setback for a ground-mounted facility is equivalent to the required prin-
cipal building setback. They are prohibited from FEMA flood zones and designated wetlands and 
must be set back at least 40 feet of a shoreline. There is also a 400-foot setback from wildlife 
management areas and scenic trail corridors. 

 Screening. There are no screening regulations. 

 Electrical Cabling. Cabling must be buried, with exceptions. 

 Reclamation. There are no reclamation/restoration regulations. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 5 



CZC #19-01 Page 2 
 

 Nuisances. There are some open-ended prohibitions regarding glare. Noise is limited to “5 dB 
[(decibels)] above ambient sound levels” as measured at the property line. There is no definition 
regarding ambient sound levels. 

 Solar Access. There is no disclaimer regarding guaranteed solar access. 

Community Solar Energy System (CSES) and Solar Farm 

The regulations for community solar energy systems and solar farms are proposed as Sec. 5.26.3 – Con-
ditional Use Standards for CSES/Solar Garden, or Solar Farm. Most additional standards for conditional 
uses are listed under Sec. 5.5.10 in the zoning ordinance. 

 Allowable Districts. Allowed as a conditional land use in all agricultural, commercial, and indus-
trial districts. There is no provision to add this use to the listing of conditional uses in each of 
those districts. Are the Recreation Open Space (RO-1) and Office (O-1) districts included? 

 Height. Ground-mounted facilities may not exceed a height of 14 feet. There are no regulations 
regarding building mounted facilities (e.g., prohibitions against exceeding the pertinent maxi-
mum building height and the extension of facilities beyond the roof edge). 

 Size. There are no size regulations beyond the minimum of >5 acres. 

 Setbacks. The minimum setback for a ground-mounted facility is equivalent to the required prin-
cipal building setback. There is a minimum setback at least 150 feet of a residential district, but 
no setback from residences in other districts (e.g., ‘single-family detached dwellings’ are a per-
mitted use in the AG-1 district). They are prohibited from FEMA flood zones and designated wet-
lands and must be set back at least 40 feet of a shoreline. There is also a 400-foot setback from 
wildlife management areas and scenic trail corridors. 

 Security Fencing. There is a requirement for security fencing, but no standards (e.g., height). 

 Screening. There is a requirement that ground-mounted facilities be screened from roads and 
adjacent residences, but there are no minimum standards (e.g., the height and spacing of vege-
tation). 

 Lighting. Lighting must be shielded to prevent light pollution and poles are limited to a maxi-
mum height of 18 feet, but no other regulations are provided (e.g., prohibition against light ex-
tending beyond the property line and the use of photometric studies). 

 Nuisances. There are some open-ended prohibitions regarding glare. Noise is limited to “5 dB 
[(decibels)] above ambient sound levels” as measured at the property line, but there is no defini-
tion regarding ambient sound levels. 

 Electrical Cabling. Cabling must be buried, with exceptions. 

 Permit Application. A site assessment study must be conducted by an independent company. 

 Reclamation. Criteria regarding decommissioning plan are provided. 

 Solar Access. There is no disclaimer regarding guaranteed solar access. 

Staff Advisement – Based upon this analysis, staff advises the Jack-
son County Planning Commission to recommend DISAPPROVAL of 
the amendments regarding ‘Solar Energy Systems’ as currently writ-
ten because they are not sufficiently detailed (please see the com-
ments provided by staff). Attached are more detailed regula-
tions/standards proposed by Spring Arbor Township that were rec-
ommended for approval by the JCPC on 4/12/18. 

Staff Report Attachments: 

 Background information provided by Blackman Township 

 Draft Spring Arbor Township Ordinance 

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 6 



JCPC Case #:
(ForJCPC Use Only) ZONING AMENDMENT FORM

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
(COORDINATING ZONING)

Return to:Jackson County Planning Commission •c/o Region 2 Planning Commission •120 W. Michigan Avenue •Jackson,Michigan 49201

Please submit the Planning Commission meeting minutes and any reports/exhibits the Commission used to makes its recommendation with this form. Use

a separate form for each proposed zoning change. Please include a legal description/ survey with rezoning requests in addition to the Parcel ID Number.

A copy of this form with the JCPC recommendation will be mailed back to the Clerk, who will return a copy to the JCPC with the Township board Action.

&L.<KC K TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION submits the following proposed zoning change to the JacksonTHE v\ Pv r\

County Planning Commission for its review, comment, and recommendation:

(ANSWER EITHER A or B)

A DISTRICT BOUNDARY CHANGE (REZONING):

(Provide the legal and popular property descriptions, the Parcel ID Number(s), the number of acres, and the section(s) in which the

property is located. Attach additional sheets if more space is needed. Attach a map showing all changes and additions.)

1. The above described property has a proposed zoning change FROM

ZONE TO ZONE.

2. PURPOSE OF PROPOSED CHANGE:

B ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT:

The following Article(s) and Section(s) is amended or altered: ARTICLE

The NEW SECTION reads as follows: (Attach additional sheets if more space is needed. )

PfcfO -5 g- gL hJ £ S O L of *\ CN i\ C (_

SECTION

/ 9daV 1IC. PUBLIC HEARING on the above amendment was held on: month year

D. NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING was published/mailed on the following date: month lX day X "7
(Notice must be provided at least fifteen days prior to the public hearing.)

E. THE NEWSPAPER ( having generolcirculation in Township ) carrying the NOTICE: J Cv C- K. Sc* A

12year

t— i r i -2̂ 0, P a r r-i'o T
The PROPOSED ZONING AMENDMENT described herein was duly considered by the Township Planning Commission and will be

forwarded to the Township Board with a recommendation to^^APPROVE or ( ) DISAPPROVE.
0 (K r\ V Chair or ( ) Secretary f / I i / *) (enter date)

IACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION (|CPC) ACTION:

day1. Date of Meeting: month
2. The JCPC herewith certifies receipt of the proposed amendment on the above date and:

( ) Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change

( ) Recommends DISAPPROVAL of the zoning change for the reasons stated in the attached letter.
( ) Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change with comments, as stated in the attached letter.
{ ) Takes NO ACTION.

year

(enter date)( ) Chair or ( ) Secretary

TOWNSHIP BOARD ACTION:
day1. Date of Meeting: month

2. The

year

_ Township Board herewith certifies that a legally constituted meeting held on the above date and that

the proposed amendment ( ) PASSED, ( ) DID NOT PASS, or was ( ) REFERRED ANEW to the Township Planning Commission.

Township Clerk

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 7 

gbauman
Typewriter
19     01



 

 

SECTION 5.26 – SOLAR ENERGY SYSTEMS 

  

A.   Purpose and Intent 

 

Blackman Charter Township determines that it is in the public interest to encourage the use and 

development of renewable energy systems that enhance energy conservation efforts in a safe and 

efficient manner that is subject to reasonable conditions that will limit adverse impact on nearby 

properties, environment, and rural character of the region. The Township resolves that the 

following regulation and standards shall be adopted to ensure that solar energy systems can be 

constructed within Blackman Charter Township while protecting public health, safety, and 

natural resources. 

 

B.  Criteria for the Use of All Solar Energy Equipment 

 

1.  Solar energy equipment shall be located in the least visibly obtrusive location where panels 

would be functional. 

 

2. Solar energy equipment shall be repaired or replaced within three (3) months of becoming 

nonfunctional. 

 

3. Each system shall conform to applicable industry standards including those of the American 

National Standards Institute (ANSI). 

 
5.26.1 – Definitions 

 

A. Accessory Solar Energy System: A small solar energy system which is roof, or building 

mounted, or architecturally-integrated, or ground mounted panels which are located on a lot or 

parcel with a principal use such as residence or business designed to supply energy for onsite 

residential or business use; excess energy produced may be sold back to the grid through net 

metering or commercial use to generate energy to offset utility costs or as an additional revenue 

stream. A small solar energy system generates up to but not exceeding 20kW, and can occupy, in 

total, no more than five (5) acres. 

 

B.     Community Solar Energy System (CSES) (also called "Solar Garden"): A large scale 

facility that converts sunlight into electricity by photovoltaics (PY) array, for the primary purpose 

of providing retail electric power (or financial proxy for retail power) to multiple community 

members or businesses residing or located off-site from the location of the solar energy system. 

Roof or ground-mounted CSES or Solar Gardens are designed to supply energy for off-site users 

on the distribution grid. A large scale CSES or Solar Garden system exceeds 20kW, and can 

occupy, in total, more than five (5) acres. 

 

C.     Solar Farm: A large scale facility that converts sunlight into electricity by photovoltaics 

(PY) array, for the primary purpose of wholesale sales of generated electricity to the electric 

transmission grid. A roof or ground-mounted solar farm is the primary land use for the parcel on 

which it is located. A large scale solar energy system exceeds 20kW, and can occupy, in total, 

more than five (5) acres. 

 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 8 



 

 

D.  Solar Collection Panels: Panels and tiles comprised of semiconductor devices and typically 

referred to as photovoltaic cells, which collect and convert solar energy directly into electricity or 

solar thermal panels that convert solar energy indirectly to heat a fluid, and can also power solar 

cooling systems. 

 
5.26.2 - Permitted Use Standards for Accessory Solar Systems 

 

Accessory Solar Energy Systems are a small solar energy system designed and used as an 

accessory use to serve the needs of a home, farm, or small business (on-site usage). Accessory 

Solar Energy Systems are Permitted Uses in all zoning districts, reviewed by the Zoning 

Administrator, and subject to the following standards: 

A.  Property Set-Backs:  Projects shall follow the district's applicable setbacks of the property's 

principal use. Ground mounted panel systems shall not be located within a FEMA floodplain or 

designated wetlands, within forty (40) feet of a riparian shoreline, and/or within three hundred 

(300) feet of governmental and/or nongovernmental wildlife management areas and scenic trail 

corridors. 

 
B.   Construction Standards:  The owner(s) and/or operator(s) shall submit a site plan and obtain     

all necessary permits from the Township, and other applicable government agencies. 

 

1. An Accessory Solar Energy System may not occupy more than five (5%) percent of 

the property or up to five (5) acres, whichever is less. 

 

2. All electrical interconnection and distribution lines within the project boundary            

shall be underground, unless determined otherwise by the planning commission 

because of severe environmental constraints (e.g. wetlands, hard bedrock), except for 

wiring between panels in a single solar array, and except for power lines that leave the 

project or are within the substation. All electrical interconnections and distribution 

components must comply with all applicable codes and public utility requirements. 

 

3. Plans shall be provided to the Public Safety Department for review of potential 

hazards/issues. 

 

4. Height of ground mounted panels shall not exceed fourteen (14) feet. 

 
C. Nuisances:  Accessory Solar Energy Systems shall not produce glare that is a nuisance to 

occupants of neighboring properties, or persons traveling neighboring roads, or air routes. 

Noise produced from Solar Energy Systems shall not exceed 5 dB above ambient sound levels 

as measured at the property line. Adequate setbacks shall be provided to comply with these 

limitations. 

 
5.26.3 - Conditional Use Standards for CSES/Solar Garden, or Solar Farm 

 

Community Solar Energy System, Solar Garden, or Solar Farms are large solar energy systems 

designed with the primary use of generating electricity to the electric transmission grid. 

Community Solar Energy System, Solar Garden, or Solar Farms are Conditional Uses in all 

agricultural, commercial, and industrial zoning districts (excludes residential and office districts), 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 9 



 

 

reviewed by the planning commission, and subject to the following standards: 

 
A.   Process:  Large solar energy system projects shall require prior to construction approval, a 

site assessment study conducted by a private company independent of the project applicant(s) 

and/or property owner to determine feasibility, including the project's description identifying 

the size, rated power output, project life, development phases, likely market for the generated 

energy; visual impact using renditions or photos; analysis of onsite traffic; environmental 

analysis including soils, wetlands, surface water, woodlots, historical features, review of 

potential impacts on wildlife, corridor preservation at the site, and mitigation measures. 

 

B.  Nuisances:  Large solar energy system projects shall not produce glare that is a nuisance to 

occupants of neighboring properties or persons traveling neighboring roads, or air routes. 

Noise produced from large solar energy systems shall not exceed 5dBA above ambient sound              

levels as measured at the property line. Adequate setbacks shall be provided to comply with these 

limitations. 

 

C.  Property Set-Backs: Set-Backs shall follow the district's applicable setbacks of the property's 

principal use. Ground mounted panel systems shall not be located within a FEMA floodplain or 

designated wetlands, within forty (40) feet of a riparian shoreline, within one hundred  fifty (150) 

of a residential district, and/or  within three hundred  (300) feet of governmental  and/or 

nongovernmental wildlife management areas, parks, and scenic trail corridors. 

 

D.  Construction Standards:  Project applicant(s) shall submit a site plan, and obtain all 

pertinent permits from the Township and other applicable government agencies. 

 
1. The maximum property coverage restrictions shall not apply to photovoltaic solar panels. 

Any other regulated structures on the property are subject to the maximum lot coverage 

restrictions of the district. 

 

2. All electrical interconnection and distribution lines within the project boundary shall 

be underground, unless determined otherwise by the planning commission because of 

severe environmental constraints (e.g. wetlands, hard bedrock), except for wiring 

between panels in a single solar array, and except for power lines that leave the project 

or are within the substation. All electrical interconnections and distribution 

components must comply with all applicable codes and public utility requirements. 

 

3. Lighting at the facility must be shielded to prevent atmospheric light pollution. Light 

pole(s) shall not exceed eighteen (18) feet. 

 
  E.  Height:  Ground mounted photovoltaic solar panel arrays shall not exceed fourteen (14) feet. 

 

F.  Landscaping:  Ground mounted photovoltaic solar panel arrays shall be screened from      

view along road and adjacent residences. The Planning Commission may alter the 

landscaping requirement depending upon the location and existing plant material on the site. 

 

G.  Safety/Access:  Perimeter security fencing is required around the Solar Energy facility and 

all electrical equipment. Keys or code access shall be provided for emergency personnel. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 10 



 

 

 
1. Owner(s) and/or operator(s) shall identify emergency and normal shutdown 

procedures. 

 
2. Owner(s) and/or operator(s) shall identify potential hazards including solid and 

hazardous waste, generated by the project to adjacent properties, roadways, and to the 

community in general. 

 

3. Plans shall be provided to the Public Safety Department for review of potential 

hazards/issues. 

 

H.  Telecommunications Interference: Owner(s) and/or operator(s) shall identify electromagnetic 

fields and communications interference generated by the project. Adequate setbacks shall be 

provided to mitigate the interference. 

 

I.  Utilities Interconnection: No grid-connected photovoltaic system shall be installed until 

the owner(s) and/or operator(s) submit a completed interconnection agreement with the 

electric utility in whose service territory the large solar energy system is located. 

 
J.  Project Life and Final Reclamation: The owner(s) and/or operator(s) shall submit a 

decommissioning plan for ground-mounted photovoltaic systems to ensure that the owner(s) 

and/or operator(s) properly remove the equipment and facilities upon the end of the project life 

or in the event they are not in use for twelve (12) consecutive months. The plan must show a 

completion date not to exceed eighteen (18) months, and shall include provisions for the 

removal of all structures and foundations, the removal of all electrical transmission 

components, the restoration of soil and vegetation and a soundly-based plan ensuring financial 

resources will be available to fully decommission the site. The Township may require the 

owner(s) and/or operator(s) to post a bond, letter of credit or establish an escrow account to 

ensure property decommissioning. 

 

K.  Planning Commission Review:  Due to the ever changing technical capabilities of 

photovoltaic solar panels and of new technology in general, the Planning Commission shall have 

the authority to review and consider alternatives in both dimensional requirements as well as 

physical development requirements found within the Solar Energy Systems Ordinance. 

 
5.26.4 - Effective Date: 

 

This ordinance shall take effect upon publication following its adoption. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 11 



 
MINUTES 
BLACKMAN CHARTER TOWNSHIP 
PLANNING COMMISSION 
1990 W. PARNALL RD. 
TUESDAY DECEMBER 18, 2018 
6:00PM 
 
 
Members Present: Decker, Grabert, Bachus, Williams 
Members Absent:  Schroeder 
 
Sign-in list of names present:  2 members of public present, but did not sign in. 
 
APPROVAL OF THE DECEMBER 4, 2018 MINUTES 
Motion by: Grabert supported by: Bachus to approve Minutes for the Planning Commission Meeting held 
12/4/18.  Roll Call: Ayes 4, Nays 0.  Motion Carried. 
 
SOLAR ORDINANCE DISCUSSION 
Members continued discussion of draft Solar Ordinance.  Motion by: Grabert supported by: Williams to 
approve the draft Solar Ordinance, following language updated regarding non-functional equipment.   
Roll Call: Ayes 4, Nays 0.  Motion Carried.   
Final draft to go to County Planning for review/input prior to going to Board of Trustees. 
 
PUBLIC COMMENT:  None. 
 
TRUSTEE REPORT:  None.   
 
ZBA REPORT:  None. 
 
ADJOURNMENT:  Meeting adjourned at 6:25 pm. 
 
 
 
Minutes prepared by: Brandon Williams, Twp. Board Representative 
 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 12 



1 

SPRING ARBOR TOWNSHIP 
JACKSON COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

3/30/18 DRAFT ORDINANCE 

An ordinance to amend Article VII of the Spring Arbor Township Zoning Ordinance by 
adding Section 5.9.16 regarding large solar energy facilities (Solar Farms) within the 
Township; adding Section 6.23 regarding small solar energy facilities; adding Solar Farms 
to the listings of conditional uses in the Agricultural (AG-1) and Light Industrial (I-1) Dis-
tricts; and addition of associated definitions to Article 2. 

The Township of Spring Arbor ordains: 

Section 1. Amendment to Article 5 

Article 5, Conditional Land Use Provisions, of the Spring Arbor Township Zoning Ordinance is amended 
by adding Section 5.9.16, Large Solar Energy Facility, as follows: 

. . .  

Section 5.9 – ADDITIONAL DEVELOPMENT REQUIREMENTS 

. . . 

5.9.16 Large Solar Energy Facility (Solar Farm) 

The purpose of this Section is to establish minimum requirements and regulations for the siting, 
installation, operation, repair, decommissioning, and removal of large solar energy facilities 
(hereafter referred to as Solar Farms), as defined in Section 2.1, while promoting the safe, effec-
tive, and efficient use of such energy facilities as a conditional use in specified zoning districts. 
The following requirements shall apply to all Solar Farms: 

A. Location. All Solar Farms are limited to the Agricultural (AG-1) and Light Industrial (L-I) 
districts. 

B. Regulations and design standards. All Solar Farms shall comply with the following min-
imum regulations and design standards. 

1. Design Standards 

a. Minimum Lot Size. No Solar Farm shall be erected on any Zoning Lot 
less than twenty (20) acres in size (as defined in Section 2.1). 

b. Maximum Height. The maximum height for a solar panel shall be four-
teen (14) feet. The maximum height of a Power Switchyard (as defined 
in Section 2.1) shall not exceed the minimum height needed to tie into 
electric transmission lines. The height of all other buildings and accesso-
ry structures shall comply with the maximum building height require-
ments of the applicable zoning district in which the Solar Farm is locat-
ed, as listed in Article 4. The height of required lightning rods attached 
to the Power Switchyard or Solar Farm related equipment shall not be 
subject to the foregoing height limitations. The height of lightning rods 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 13 



2 

shall be limited to that height necessary to protect the Power 
Switchyard and Solar Farm equipment from lightning. 

c. Setbacks. Solar Farm facilities and related structures and components 
shall be set back a minimum of thirty feet (30) from all lot lines. In addi-
tion, Solar Farm solar arrays and other structures must be located at 
least three hundred (300) feet from the road right-of-way along M-60; 
one hundred fifty (150) feet from the road right-of-way along all other 
roadways, public and private; and one hundred fifty (150) feet from any 
lot line adjacent to all existing Rural Non-Farm Residential (RNF-1), Sub-
urban Residential (RS-1 and RS-2), and Multiple-Family Residential (RM-
1) District land and any lot line adjacent to an existing residence at the 
time the Solar Farm is granted conditional use approval, unless the zon-
ing lot is comprised of a portion of the lot containing the residence. Ad-
ditional setbacks may be required to mitigate noise and glare impacts, 
or to provide for designated road or utility corridors, as identified 
through the review process. 

d. Safety/Access 

(1) Security fencing shall be installed around the Solar Farm as fol-
lows: fencing to be a minimum of six (6) feet and a maximum of 
eight (8) feet in height; fencing to be located inside the perime-
ter of screening, if any. Knox boxes and keys shall be provided at 
locked entrances for emergency personnel access. 

(2) Appropriate warning signage shall be placed at the entrance 
and perimeter of the Solar Farm. 

e. Noise. No component of any Solar Farm shall produce noise that ex-
ceeds any of the following limitations. Adequate setbacks shall be pro-
vided to comply with these limitations. 

(1) Fifty (50) dBA, as measured at the property line of any adjacent 
Rural Non-Farm Residential (RNF-1), Suburban Residential (RS-1 
and RS-2), and Multiple-Family Residential (RM-1) District zoned 
land in existence at the time the Solar Farm is granted condi-
tional use approval. 

(2) Forty-five (45) dBA, as measured at any neighboring residence 
in existence at the time the Solar Farm is granted conditional 
use approval, between the hours of nine p.m. and seven a.m. 

(3) Sixty (60) dBA, as measured at the lot lines of the project 
boundary. 

f. Visual Appearance 

(1) Solar Farm buildings and accessory structures shall, to the ex-
tent reasonably possible, use materials, colors, and textures 
that will blend the Solar Farm into the existing environment. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 14 



3 

(2) The perimeter of Solar Farm facilities shall also be screened and 
buffered by installed evergreen vegetative plantings whenever 
existing natural forest vegetation does not otherwise continu-
ously obscure the Solar Farm’s entire lot perimeter from adja-
cent parcels, subject to the following requirements: 

(a) Unless screened and buffered at all times by natural 
forest vegetation having a substantially similar obscur-
ing effect of an evergreen vegetative buffer installed 
pursuant to this Section, a continuous evergreen vege-
tative buffer shall be installed and maintained at all 
times at the perimeter of all Solar Farms. 

(b) The evergreen vegetative buffer shall be composed of 
evergreen trees or shrubs that at planting shall be a 
minimum of six (6) feet in height. The evergreen trees 
or shrubs shall be spaced no more than ten (10) feet 
apart on center (from the central trunk of one plant to 
the central trunk of the next plant). Within five (5) years 
of planting, required evergreen vegetative screening 
shall be no less than fifteen (15) feet tall. 

(c) Failure to continuously maintain the required evergreen 
vegetative buffer shall constitute a violation of this Or-
dinance and sufficient grounds for revocation of any 
conditional use permit previously granted. 

(d) An alternate screening method may be considered for 
approval by the Planning Commission as long as it has a 
substantially similar obscuring effect of an evergreen 
buffer. 

(e) If the Solar Farm is not visible from any road and if the 
Solar Farm is not visible from any existing residence, the 
screening requirements may be modified at the discre-
tion of the Planning Commission. 

(3) Lighting of the Solar Farm shall be limited to the minimum nec-
essary, supplied with down lighting, and in no case shall any il-
lumination from such lighting extend beyond the perimeter of 
the Solar Farm. A photometric study may be used to make this 
determination. 

(4) No Solar Farm shall produce glare that would constitute a nui-
sance to occupants of neighboring properties or to persons 
traveling neighboring roads. Upon written notice from the Zon-
ing Administrator, or such other person designated by the 
Township Board, to the owners of the Solar Farm that glare 
from the Solar Farm is causing a nuisance to occupants of 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 15 



4 

neighboring property or to persons traveling neighboring roads, 
the owner of the Solar Farm shall have a reasonable time (not 
to exceed 6 months) from the date of such notice to remediate 
such glare. 

g. Medium Voltage Cable. All medium voltage cable (as defined in Section 
2.1) within the project boundary shall be installed underground, unless 
determined otherwise by the planning commission because of severe 
environmental constraints (e.g. wetlands, cliffs, hard bedrock), and ex-
cept for Power Switchyards (as defined in Section 2.1) or area within a 
substation. All electrical interconnections and distribution components 
must comply with all applicable codes and public utility requirements. 

2. Local, State and Federal Permits. A Solar Farm shall be required to obtain all 
necessary permits from the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (see 
Section 5.9.16.D.2) and any applicable municipal, county, state, or Federal per-
mits. 

3. Agreements/Easements. If the Zoning Lot (as defined in Section 2.1) on which 
the project is proposed is to be leased, rather than owned, by the owner of the 
Solar Farm, all property within the project boundary must be included in a rec-
orded easement(s), lease(s), or consent agreement(s) specifying the applicable 
uses for the duration of the project. All necessary leases, easements, or other 
agreements between the owner of the Solar Farm and property owners must be 
in place prior to commencing construction, unless specified otherwise by the 
conditional use permit. 

C. Permit Applications. An application for a conditional use permit to establish a Solar 
Farm must include a complete description of the project and documentation to suffi-
ciently demonstrate that the requirements set forth in Section 5.9.16.B.1 will be met. 
Supporting documentation for addressing the review criteria of Section 5.9.16.D and Ar-
ticle 5 (conditional land use provisions) is also to be provided. The planning commission 
and township board may require any information reasonably necessary to determine 
compliance with this ordinance. The application must also be accompanied by detailed 
site plans, drawn to scale and dimensioned and certified by a registered engineer li-
censed in the State of Michigan, displaying the following information: 

1. All lot lines and dimensions, including a legal description of each lot or parcel 
comprising the Solar Farm. 

2. Names of owners of each lot or parcel within Spring Arbor Township that is pro-
posed to be within the Solar Farm. 

3. Vicinity map showing the location of all surrounding land uses. 

4. Location and height of all proposed Solar Array(s), buildings, structures, electri-
cal tie lines and transmission lines, security fencing, and all above-ground struc-
tures and utilities associated with a Solar Farm 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 16 



5 

5. Horizontal and vertical (elevation) to scale drawings with dimensions that show 
the location of the proposed solar array(s), buildings, structures, electrical tie 
lines and transmission lines, security fencing and all above ground structures 
and utilities on the property. 

6. Location of all existing and proposed overhead and underground electrical 
transmission or distribution lines within the Solar Farm and within 1,000 feet of 
the outside perimeter of the Solar Farm. 

7. Proposed setbacks from the solar array(s) to all existing and proposed structures 
within the Solar Farm. 

8. Land elevations for the solar array(s) location and the relationship to the land 
elevations of all existing and proposed structures within the Solar Farm. 

9. Access driveways within and to the Solar Farm, together with a detailed narra-
tive regarding dimensions, composition, and maintenance of each proposed 
driveway. All access drives shall be subject to Jackson County Department of 
Transportation approval, and shall be planned so as to minimize the use of lands 
for that purpose. 

10. Planned security measures to prevent unauthorized trespass and access and to 
warn of potential dangers during the construction, operation, removal, mainte-
nance or repair of the Solar Farm. 

11. A written description of the maintenance program to be used for the solar ar-
ray(s) and other components of the Solar Farm, including decommissioning and 
removal when determined by the Township to be obsolete, uneconomic, or 
abandoned. The description shall include maintenance schedules, types of 
maintenance to be performed, and decommissioning and removal procedures 
and schedules if the Solar Farm becomes obsolete, uneconomic or abandoned. 

12. A copy of the manufacturer’s safety measures. 

13. Planned lighting protection measures. 

14. Additional detail(s) and information as required by the conditional use permit 
requirements of the Zoning Ordinance, or as required by the Planning Commis-
sion. 

It is preferred that any related conditional use permit applications for substations or 
new transmission lines be considered in conjunction with the conditional use permit ap-
plication for the Solar Farm; however, if the details of those improvements are not 
available at the time of application for the Solar Farm, they may be considered later, 
through subsequent conditional use permit review. At a minimum, the intended route 
for connecting to the power grid and the alternative locations of any substation shall be 
disclosed with the application for the Solar Farm. 

Due to the complexity of Solar Farm projects, the Township may require a development 
agreement or other appropriate instrument to address taxing, property assessment, de-
commissioning bond, and other related issues not addressed by this Section. A devel-

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 17 



6 

opment agreement may be required as a condition of the permit, and must be approved 
by the Township Board prior to commencing construction. 

D. Provisions for Conditional use permit review. In addition to the standards set forth for 
conditional use approval in Article 5, additional consideration shall be given to the fol-
lowing: 

1. Project Rationale. Project rationale, including estimated construction schedule, 
project life, phasing, and likely buyers or markets for the generated energy. 

2. Siting Considerations. Siting considerations, such as avoiding areas/locations 
with a high potential for biological conflict such as areas of environmental con-
cern, parks, trails, special management areas or important wildlife habitat or 
corridors; avoiding visual corridors that are prominent scenic viewsheds; avoid-
ing areas of erodible slopes and soils, where concerns for water quality, land-
slide, severe erosion, or high storm runoff potential have been identified; and, 
avoiding known sensitive historical, cultural or archeological resources. 

3. Wildlife Habitat Areas and Migration Patterns. Specifically include information 
on any use of the site by endangered or threatened species and whether the 
project is in a biologically significant area. If threatened or endangered species 
exist in the area, consultation with the Michigan Departments of Natural Re-
sources and Environmental Quality will be necessary. 

4. Environmental Analysis. The planning commission may require an analysis of 
impacts to historic, cultural and archaeological resources, soil erosion (water 
and wind), flora, and water quality and water supply in the area, when there is 
reason to believe that adverse impacts to such may occur. 

5. Hazardous Waste. As applicable, the application must include plans for the spill 
prevention, clean-up, and disposal of fuels, oils, and hazardous wastes. 

6. Transportation Plan for Construction and Operation Phases. Proof of an 
agreement with the Jackson County Department of Transportation and the 
Michigan Department of Transportation (if applicable) regarding any construc-
tion phase of the project is required. 

7. Public Safety. Identify and address any known or suspected potential hazards to 
adjacent properties, public roadways, communities, aviation, etc., that may be 
created by the project. 

8. Decommissioning Plan. Describe the decommissioning and final land reclama-
tion plan to be followed after the anticipated useful life, or abandonment, or 
termination of the project, including evidence of proposed commitments with 
affected parties (i.e., Township, any lessor or property owner, etc.) that ensure 
proper final reclamation of the Solar Farm. Among other things, revegetation 
and road repair activities should be addressed in the plan. Under this plan, all 
structures and facilities shall be removed, including any structures below-grade, 
and removed offsite for disposal. No concrete, piping and other materials may 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 18 



7 

be left in place. The ground must be restored to its original condition within 180 
days. 

E. Application Escrow Account. An escrow account shall be deposited with the Township 
by the applicant when the applicant applies for a conditional use permit for a Solar 
Farm. The monetary amount deposited by the applicant in escrow with the Township 
shall be the amount estimated by the Township to cover all reasonable costs and ex-
penses associated with the conditional use permit review and approval process, which 
costs shall include, but are not limited to, reasonable fees of the Township Attorney, 
Township Planner and Township Engineer, as well as costs for any reports or studies 
that are reasonably related to the zoning review process for the application. Such es-
crow amount shall be in addition to any filing or application fees established by resolu-
tion. At any point during the review process, the Township may require that the appli-
cant place additional funds into escrow with the Township if the existing escrow amount 
deposited by the applicant is deemed insufficient by the Township. If the escrow ac-
count needs replenishing and the applicant refuses to do so promptly, the review pro-
cess shall cease unless and until the applicant makes the required additional escrow de-
posit. 

F. Decommissioning Escrow Account. If a conditional use permit is approved pursuant to 
this section, the Township shall require security in the form of a cash deposit, or surety 
bond acceptable to the Township, which will be furnished to the Township in order to 
ensure full compliance with this section and all conditions of approval. When determin-
ing the amount of each required security, the Township may also require an annual es-
calator or increase based on the Consumer Price Index (or the equivalent or its succes-
sor). Such financial guarantee shall be deposited or filed with the Township Clerk after a 
conditional use permit has been approved but before construction commences on the 
Solar Farm. At a minimum, the financial security shall be in an amount determined by 
the Township to be reasonably sufficient to restore the property to its previous condi-
tion prior to construction and operation of the Solar Farm. Such financial security shall 
be kept in full force and effect during the entire time that the Solar Farm exists or is in 
place, and such financial security shall be irrevocable and non-cancelable. 

G. Code Compliance. Construction of a Solar Farm shall comply with the National Electric 
Safety Code and any applicable State Building Codes as a condition of any conditional 
use permit under this section. 

H. Certified Solar Array Components. Components of a Solar Farm shall be approved by 
the Institute of Electrical and Electronics Engineers (“IEEE”), Solar Rating and Certifica-
tion Corporation (“SRCC”), Electronic Testing Laboratories (“EIL”), or other similar certi-
fication organization acceptable to the Township. 

I. Solar Access. The Township makes no assurance of solar access other than the provi-
sions contained within this Section. The applicant may provide evidence of covenants, 
easements, or similar documentation for abutting property owners providing access to 
solar energy for the operation of a Solar Farm. 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 19 



8 

Section 2. Amendment to Article 6 

Article 6, Supplemental Regulations, of the Spring Arbor Township Zoning Ordinance is amended by add-
ing Section 6.23, Small Solar Energy Facility, as follows: 

. . .  

Section 6.23 – SMALL SOLAR ENERGY FACILITY. 

Notwithstanding other provisions of this Section of the Ordinance, Small Roof-Mounted or 
Ground-Mounted Solar Energy Facilities shall be considered a permitted use in all zoning dis-
tricts as an accessory to a principal use. A Small Solar Energy Facility (as defined in Section 2.1) 
shall be required to have appropriate building permits. 

A. All Small Solar Energy Facilities are subject to the following minimum requirements: 

1. A small solar energy facility shall provide power for the principal use and/or ac-
cessory use of the property on which the small solar energy facility is located 
and shall not be used for the generation of power for the sale of energy to other 
users, although this provision shall not be interpreted to prohibit the sale of ex-
cess power generated from time to time to the local utility company. 

2. A small solar energy facility connected to the utility grid shall provide written 
authorization from the local utility company to Spring Arbor Township acknowl-
edging and approving such connection. 

3. A roof-mounted facility may be mounted on a principal building or accessory 
building. A roof mounted facility, whether mounted on the principal building or 
accessory building, may not exceed the maximum principal building height or 
accessory building height specified for the building type in the underlying zoning 
district. In no instance shall any part of the small solar energy facility extend be-
yond the edge of the roof. 

4. A ground mounted facility shall not exceed a height of fourteen (14) feet. 

5. The surface area of a ground mounted facility, regardless of the mounted angle, 
shall be calculated as part of the overall lot coverage. 

6. A ground mounted facility or facility attached to an accessory building shall not 
be located within the required front yard setback. 

7. The minimum ground-mounted small solar energy facility setback distance from 
the property lines shall be equivalent to the principal building setback of the 
underlying zoning district. 

8. All mechanical equipment associated with and necessary for the operation of 
the small solar energy facility shall comply with the following: 

a. Mechanical equipment shall be screened from any adjacent property 
that is residentially zoned or used for residential purposes. The screen 
shall consist of shrubbery, trees, or other non-invasive plant species 
which provides a visual screen. At least fifty percent (50%) of plants 
must be evergreen. In lieu of a planting screen, a decorative fence 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 20 



9 

meeting the requirements of Section 4.12 and that is at least fifty per-
cent (50%) opaque may be used. 

b. Mechanical equipment shall not be located within the minimum front 
yard setback of the underlying zoning district. 

c. Mechanical equipment for ground-mounted facilities shall comply with 
the setbacks specified for principal structures in the underlying zoning 
district. 

9. Solar panels shall be placed such that concentrated solar radiation or glare shall 
not be directed onto nearby properties or roadways. 

10. All power transmission lines from a ground mounted small solar energy facility 
to any building or other structure shall be located underground. 

11. A small solar energy facility shall not be used to display advertising, including 
signage, streamers, pennants, spinners, reflectors, ribbons, tinsel, balloons, 
flags, banners or similar materials. The manufacturers and equipment infor-
mation, warning, or indication of ownership shall be allowed on any equipment 
of the solar energy facility provided they comply with the prevailing sign regula-
tions. 

12. The design of the small solar energy facility shall conform to applicable industry 
standards. A building/zoning permit shall be obtained prior to construction.  In 
the case of a roof-mounted facility, the existing roof structure and the weight of 
the facility shall be taken into consideration when applying for a small solar en-
ergy facility permit. 

All wiring shall comply with the applicable version of Michigan’s construction 
codes. The local utility provider shall be contacted to determine grid intercon-
nection and net metering policies.  The Applicant shall submit certificates of de-
sign compliance obtained by the equipment manufacturer from a certifying or-
ganization and any such design shall be certified by an Engineer registered in the 
State of Michigan. 

13. The small solar energy facility shall comply with all applicable Township ordi-
nances and codes so as to ensure the structural integrity of such facility. 

14. Before any construction can commence on any small solar energy facility the 
property owner must acknowledge that he/she is the responsible party for own-
ing/leasing and maintaining the solar energy facility. 

B. If a ground mounted small solar energy facility is removed, any earth disturbance as a 
result of the removal of the ground mounted facility shall be graded and reseeded. 

C. If a ground mounted small solar energy facility has been abandoned (meaning not hav-
ing been in operation for a period of six (6) months) or is defective or is deemed to be 
unsafe by the Building Inspector, the facility shall be required to be repaired by the 
owner to meet federal, state and local safety standards, or be removed by the property 
owner within the time period allowed by the Building Inspector. If the owner fails to 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 21 



10 

remove or repair the defective or abandoned small solar energy facility, the Township 
may pursue a legal action to have the facility removed at the owner’s expense. 

D. Solar Access. The Township makes no assurance of solar access other than the provi-
sions contained within this Section. The applicant may provide evidence of covenants, 
easements, or similar documentation for abutting property owners providing access to 
solar energy for the operation of a solar energy facility. 

Section 3. Amendment to Article 4 

Article 4 of the Spring Arbor Township Zoning Ordinance is amended by adding Solar Farms to the listing 
of Conditional Uses in the Agricultural District (Section 4.1.1.B), and Light industrial District (Section 
4.5.1.B) as follows: 

Section 4.1 – OPEN DISTRICTS 

. . . 

4.1.1 Agricultural District (AG-1): 

. . . 

B. Conditional Uses (See Article 5) 

. . . 

24. Solar Farms, subject to regulations contained in Section 5.9.16. 

. . . 

Section 4.5 – INDUSTRIAL DISTRICT 

. . . 

4.5.1 Light Industrial District (I-1): 

. . . 

B. Conditional Uses (See Article 5) 

. . . 

8. Solar Farms, subject to regulations contained in Section 5.9.16. 

. . . 

Section 4. Amendment to Article 2 

Article 2 of the Spring Arbor Township Zoning Ordinance is amended by adding the following definitions 
to Section 2.1: 

. . . 

Solar Energy Facility:  An energy generating facility consisting of one or more solar panels and 
associated equipment including, but not limited to: 

A. Large Solar Energy Facility (Solar Farm). A Solar Farm is a utility-scale facility that con-
verts sunlight into electricity by photovoltaics (PV) or experimental solar technologies. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 22 



11 

Any ground-mounted facility that covers more than 10,000 square feet is included in 
this definition. 

B. Small Solar Energy Facility. A small solar energy facility is accessory to a principal resi-
dential or small business use and converts sunlight into electricity by photovoltaics (PV) 
or experimental solar technologies. The sale and distribution of excess available energy 
shall be incidental and not the primary purpose of the facility. For ground-mounted fa-
cilities, the total area covered by solar arrays shall not exceed 10,000 square feet. 

C. Photovoltaics (PV). A technology that converts light directly into electricity.  

D. Power Switchyard. The structure needed to tie the solar energy facility to electric 
transmission lines. 

E. Medium Voltage Cable. 34.5 kV lines which provide electricity to homes. 

. . . 

Zoning Lot. Provided that the owner(s) of any number of contiguous lots, or contiguous portions 
of lots, may have as many of said contiguous lots, or contiguous portions of lots, considered as a 
single lot for the purpose of this Ordinance as he/she so elects, and in such case the outside pe-
rimeter of said group of lots or portions of lots shall constitute the front, rear, and side lot lines 
thereof. This definition shall apply only to the siting of a Solar Farm. 

Section 5. Severability 

If any section, subsection, subparagraph, sentence, clause, phrase, or portion of this Ordinance is for any 
reason held invalid or unconstitutional by any court of competent jurisdiction, such portion shall be 
deemed a separate, distinct, and independent provision and such holding shall not affect the validity of 
the remaining portions of this ordinance. 

Section 6. Repeal 

All ordinances or parts of ordinances in conflict with this Ordinance are repealed. 

 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 23 



This page is intentionally blank. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 24 



  
www.region2planning.com/jackson-county-planning-commission/ 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

COORDINATED ZONING REPORT | #19-02 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: February 14, 2019 

 Proposal: The rezoning of a property in Section 23 (T2S-R1E) of Leoni Township 

Request 

A property is proposed for rezoning to ‘Agricultural (AG)’ from Suburban Residential (RS)’. 

Purpose 

The purpose of the request is to ‘build a barn for [an] event venue/weddings’ (see the Township’s ‘Appli-
cation for Zoning Change or Conditional Use’). There is local opposition to the proposed use, as illus-
trated by the documentation appended to this report.* 

Location and Size of the Property 

The subject property (ID# 000-09-23-126-001-00) is situated in Section 23 (T2S-R1E) of the Township 
(see Figure 1). Located on the east side of Whipple Road and the north side of Updyke Road, the prop-
erty has an area of approximately 34 acres. The Waterloo State Recreation Area is located to the north-
east and I-94 traverses the Township to the south. 

Land Use and Zoning 

Current Land Use – The subject property is currently vacant (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form and 
Figures 1, 5a & 5b). Call’s Pit (a quarry owned by the Jackson County Department of Transportation and 
currently operated by Lester Brothers) is located to the north. The Hideaway RV Park (a commercial rec-
reational vehicle campground) is located to the east. The Sanctuary at Brills Lake (a site condominium 
development) and other residential properties are located to the west and south. 

Future Land Use – The future land use map in the Leoni Township Master Plan places the subject prop-
erty in an area recommended for ‘Open Space’ uses (see Figure 2), as are properties to the north, east, 
and directly to the south. ‘Low-Density Residential’ uses are proposed for properties to the west and fur-
ther to the south. 

Current Zoning – The subject property is zoned ‘Suburban Residential (RS)’, as are properties to the 
west and further to the south (see Figure 3). Properties to the north and east, and directly to the south, 
are zoned ‘Agricultural (AG)’. 

                                                 
* Please note that the proposed use is listed for informational purposes only. It should not be utilized in making the rezoning 
decision. Circumstances may change tomorrow which make the proposed use impractical. All of the uses that the proposed 
zoning designation would allow are pertinent to the rezoning request. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 25 



CZ #19-02 Page 2 
 

Public Facilities and Environmental Constraints 

Water and Sewer Availability – Municipal water is not available and there are no plans to extend 
that service, according to the Township (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). Municipal sewer service is 
available. 

Public Road/Street Access – Whipple and Updyke Roads provide direct access to the subject prop-
erty. They are paved county local roads (see the Jackson County 2008 Road Map), although Updyke 
Road becomes a gravel county local road further to the east. 

Environmental Constraints – The subject property has no known environmental constraints, accord-
ing to the Township (see the Rezoning Worksheet Form). A site visit revealed that it is wooded with a 
rolling topography. 

Analysis and Recommendation 

Township Planning Commission Recommendation – The Leoni Township Planning Commission recom-
mended approval of the proposed rezoning to ‘AG’ (see the Zoning Amendment Form). 

JCPC Staff Analysis – Leoni Township’s Zoning Plan contains the following criteria upon which a rezoning 
request must be considered: 

1. Is the proposed rezoning consistent with the policies and uses proposed for that area in the 
Master Plan? 

No. ‘Open Space’ is the plan designation for the subject property and properties to the north, 
east, and south (see Figure 2). According to the Zoning Plan, only the ‘Open Space (OS)’ zoning 
district equates to the ‘Open Space’ plan designation. Properties to the west are included in a 
‘Low-Density Residential’ plan designation. No properties in the general area are included in an 
‘Agricultural’ plan designation. 

2. Will all of the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be compatible with other zones and 
uses in the surrounding area? 

Yes. Given that residential development regularly occurs in agriculturally zoned areas, the uses 
allowed in the ‘Agricultural District (AG)’ are compatible with residential development. How-
ever, some agricultural uses may be objectionable to nearby residential property owners, as in-
dicated in some of the attached written public comments (see the following listings of permitted 
and conditional uses in the ‘AG’ district):† 

 Permitted uses: Agriculture and the usual agricultural buildings and structures; one-
family detached dwellings; general and specialized farming; any accessory use or struc-
ture clearly incidental and customary to the operation of the above uses; and signs. 

 Conditional uses: The raising of domestic animals, fowl and fur-bearing animals (other 
than farm livestock) for commercial purposes; livestock auction yards and structures; 
quarries;‡ portable asphalt plants; aircraft landing fields or airports; permitted home oc-
cupations; off-site sludge storage facilities and lagoon or water reservoirs; churches; 
commercial kennels for the raising, breeding and boarding of dogs and other small ani-
mals; riding stables and academies; roadside market stands; and essential services. 

                                                 
† Unabridged listings of permitted uses and conditional uses are located in Sec. 42-153 of Chapter 42 (Zoning) of the Leoni 
Township Code of Ordinances (attached). Exclusions and other stated parameters (e.g., setbacks, etc.) found in the unabridged 
sections were not included in the listings in order to make them easier to read. 
‡ Sec. 205 of the Michigan Zoning Enabling Act (MCL 125.3205) states that mining operations must be allowed in all zoning dis-
tricts under certain circumstances. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 26 



CZ #19-02 Page 3 
 

3. Will public services and facilities be significantly adversely impacted by a development or use 
allowed under the requested rezoning? 

No. It is not anticipated that an ‘Agricultural (AG)’ rezoning will have an adverse effect on public 
services and facilities. However, it is recognized that an ‘event venue/weddings’ use may have 
some adverse impacts. 

4. Will the uses allowed under the proposed rezoning be equally or better suited to the area 
than uses allowed under the current zoning district? 

Yes. Properties to the north, east, and south are already zoned ‘Agricultural (AG)’. However, 
Call’s Pit is assessed ‘industrial vacant’, the Hideaway RV Park is assessed ‘commercial’, and the 
properties directly to the south and the northwest are assessed ‘residential’ (see Figure 4). 

JCPC Staff Advisement – The proposed rezoning does not conform to the Leoni Township Master Plan, 
which places the subject property in an ‘Open Space’ plan designation. However, properties to the 
north, east, and south are zoned ‘Agricultural (AG)’. Although the proposed use should not be utilized in 
making the rezoning decision, the situation is further complicated in that it does not appear that the 
proposed ‘event venue/weddings’ use is covered under the listings of permitted and conditional uses for 
the ‘AG’ district. Nor is it likely that such a venue unassociated with a farm operation would be covered 
by Michigan’s Right to Farm Act (please see the following additional analysis). Consequently, the pro-
posed use should not be permitted even if the property is rezoned. 

Based upon the above analysis, staff advises the Jackson County 
Planning Commission to recommend DISAPPROVAL of the ‘Agricul-
tural (AG)’rezoning request to the Leoni Township Board. Staff 
further advises the JCPC to caution that if the rezoning is approved 
by the Township Board, it will not permit the establishment of ‘a 
barn for [an] event venue/weddings’. 

Staff Report Attachments: 

 Background information provided by Leoni Township 

 Correspondence from concerned property owners/citizens 

 Sec. 42-153 of Leoni Township’s Code of Ordinances 

Additional Analysis 

The reason behind the rezoning request to Agricultural (AG) is to ‘build a barn for [an] event venue/weddings’. The re-
zoning to ‘AG’ should not allow for the establishment of such a facility. A ‘wedding barn’ does not fit any of the permit-
ted or conditional uses listed in the Agricultural District (AG) for Leoni Township (see Sec. 42-153 of the Code of Ordi-
nances (attached)) in the opinion of JCPC staff. 

Michigan’s Right to Farm Act (RFTA) does have a General Accepted Agricultural and Management Practice (GAAMP) for 
‘Farm Markets’ which includes farm activities such as ‘concerts’, ‘haunted barns/trails’, and ‘social events’, which may 
be akin to a ‘wedding barn’ (see the Farm Market GAAMP). However, the purpose of the RTFA was “to help existing 
commercial farmers protect their livelihoods against lawsuits that were beginning to pop up as a result of urban (and 
suburban) sprawl” and “to help protect commercial farmers legally, provided they adhered to the Generally Accepted 
Agricultural and Management Practices (GAAMPS), established as part of the RTFA” (see Right to Farm: What It is and 

Isn’t).* Consequently, the ‘wedding barn’ would need to be part of a larger ‘farm operation (as defined by the RTFA), to 

be covered by the ‘Farm Market’ GAAMP. 

* https://www.michigan.gov/mdard/0,4610,7-125-1599_1605---,00.html 

Suggested Actions: 

(1) Recommend APPROVAL 
(2) Recommend DISAPPROVAL 
(3) Recommend APPROVAL 

WITH COMMENTS 
(4) Take NO ACTION 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 27 

https://www.michigan.gov/mdard/0,4610,7-125-1599_1605---,00.html


CZ #19-02 Page 4 
 

Figure 1 

Location 

 

Figure 2 

Municipal Future Land Use 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 28 



CZ #19-02 Page 5 
 

Figure 3 

Municipal Zoning 

 

Figure 4 

Property Assessment 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 29 



CZ #19-02 Page 6 
 

Figure 5a 

Aerial Photo 

 

Figure 5b 

Aerial Photo 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 30 



1 / ^ S y j i Y
C'l r i

DJCPC Case #: - -
(ForJCPCUse Only) ZONING AMENDMENT FORM a"JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION

(COORDINATING ZONING)
Return to:Jackson County Planning Commission •c/o Region 2 Planning Commission •120 W.Michigan Avenue•Jackson,Michigan 49201
Please submit the Planning Commission meeting minutes and any reports/exhibits the Commission used to makes its recommendation with thisform.Usea separateformfor each proposed zoning change.Please include a legal description/ survey with rezoning requests in addition to the Parcel ID Number.

A copy of thisform with the JCPC recommendation will be mailed back to the Clerk,who will return a copy to theJCPC with the Township Board Action.

[j2on\-THE
County Planning Commission for its review,comment,and recommendation:
(ANSWER EITHER A or B)
A. DISTRICT BOUNDARY CHANGE (REZONING):

(Provide the legal and popular property descriptions, the Parcel ID Number(s), the number of acres, and the section(s) in which the
property is located.Attach additional sheets if more space is needed.Attach a map showing all changes and additions.)

TOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION submits the following proposed zoning change to the Jackson

1. The above described property has a proposed zoning change FROM iT&S'ĉ9*SU(X^r\ <̂ -Jl
ZONE TO \Xei ( 4fe» > ZONE.

2. PURPOSE OF PROPOSED CHANGE: n'?L̂ > y\ |Vf. fiC LILAA^U fZxJ> ft "if C[ /") Ri /mV V /llQLgj

(JLSJ

B. ZONING ORDINANCE TEXT AMENDMENT:
The following Article(s) and Section(s) is amended or altered: ARTICLE
The NEW SECTION reads as follows: (Attach additional sheets if more space is needed.)

SECTION

C. PUBLIC HEARING on the above amendment was held on: month
D. NOTICE OF PUBLIC HEARING was published/mailed on the following date: month

(Notice must be provided at leastfifteen days prior to the public hearing.)
E. THE NEWSPAPER (having general circulation in Township ) carrying the NOTICE:

The PROPOSED ZONING AMENDMENT described herein was duly considered by the Township Planning Commission and will be
forwarded to the Township Board with a recommendation to® APPROVE or | |

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION (JCPC) ACTION:
1. Date of Meeting: month

day £-nd year2=QJ^day IIp- QLQ\%year

/V

DISAPPROVE.
Chair or Q Secretary 1 / <3 / 1^ (enter date)

day year
2. The JCPC herewith certifies receipt of the proposed amendment on the above date and:

/I] Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change
I I Recommends DISAPPROVAL of the zoning change for the reasons stated in the attached letter.
I I Recommends APPROVAL of the zoning change with comments,as stated in the attached letter.

Takes NO ACTION.
,Recording Secretary (enter date)

TOWNSHIP BOARD ACTION:
1. Date of Meeting: month
2. The

day year
Township Board herewith certifies that a legally constituted meeting held on the above date and that

the proposed amendment Q PASSED,Q DID NOT PASS,or was Q REFERRED ANEW to the Township Planning Commission.

Township Clerk
Revised:12/19/14

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 31 

gbauman
Typewriter
19        02



JCPC Case #: - r_
(For JCPC Use Only) REZONING WORKSHEET FORM

JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION
(COORDINATING ZONING)

Return to: Jackson County Planning Commission •c/o Region 2 Planning Commission •120 W. Michigan Avenue^ Jackson, Michigan 49201

Please submit with the "Zoning Amendment Form"for a district boundary change (rezoning), not a text amendment

{ o tOo *Township of:
Township official we may cqntact: QfU
Applicant: \ C'.
RezoningRequest: From:

Property Location:

Township Case #:.
Phone #: 2-2.^^)<srlrti4 - 021$.tf&

j*.rro Phone #:

(-ill To:

Quarter Section(s): [||NW [jNE DSW ^SE

] Yes Q]No (Please do not use only the Parcel ID Number)

Section(s):

Legal Description and/or Survey Map/Tax Map (please attach)

Parcel Size (i/more than one parcel, label"A" -"Z"): 3 s

1^] Yes NoPlease attach location map
What is the existinguse of the site? \JcLcanH OPT )

t~e 2-pn^jp. An CLL: -ur<Cx 0 d3l£l EA£Lr\4-What is the proposed use of the site? GjQ

What are the surroundinguses (e.g.: agriculture, single-family residential, highway commercial, etc.)?
North:

East:

What are the surrounding ZoningDistricts?

> » Q\TT Cf x i AjVxvZC P
VytCi »-lVusrqJ,

What is the suggested use of the site on the Township's Land Use Pjan map?

Is municipal water currently available? Q Yes No Will it be made available? Q] Yes No If yes, when?

Is municipal sewer currently available? ^Yes Q No Will it be made available? Q]Yes Q No Ifyes, when?

Does the site have access to a public street or road? Yes Q] No If yes, name _

Are there anyknown environmental constraints on the site? Q] Yes No

i [ Wetland(s) Q Floodplain(s) Q Brownfield(s) Q Soil(s) Q Other (p/ease specify)

f XI foU-Syl'TNCi 9 — \/C\ Ca A tf"''
(̂ >QAN irNM2.ircxr̂ J?

South:

P jkrvJ?West:

iw ir? rn 1 j-t . t*-w QNorth: ( ? South: (

:(ES:( A£_)East: SCcWest:

QiOgri ( O

LO VV. ppLg.

Please attach the minutes of the Planning Commission.
r^PI Yes, the minutes are attached.

Please attach copies ofany reports, exhibits or other documented provided to the Planning Commission.
I I Yes, copies of documentation are attached. No, copies of documentation are not attached.
Please attach any public comments, letters, or petitions.

Yes, public comments are attached.

No, the minutes are not attached.

I I No, public comments are not attached.

Please include any additional information or comments as an attachment
Revised:12/19/14

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 32 

gbauman
Typewriter
19     02



• 5

. .*•
T- SS3Leoni Township Office

913 Fifth StreetP.O.Box375
Michigan Center,Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694 FAX:(517) 764-1106
email: Ieonihvp®,modempooI.com

iO'3-rDATE OF APPLICATION: APPLICATION#:

APPLICATION FOR ZONING CHANGE or CONDITIONAL USE
TO: PLANNING COMMISSION, LEONITOWNSHIP
I (WE) Herebymake application with the Township ofLeoni to:
( ) Add to or change the text of the Ordinance.

Change the district boundaries.
(>0 Re-Zone the property to another classification.-
( ) Conditional Use.
( ) Home Occupation.
( ) Extending Residential Non-Conforming Use.

(

1. Applicants Name:
2. Address ofProperty Involved: IQ\ doCb— CR - 2^- 1 \ -OQ
3. Legal Description ofProperty:

Phone: 0

4. The above property is presentlyZoned: tctl
5. I wish the zoning to be changed from:
6. I wish the boundaries to be changed from:
7. I wish the change in the text from section:

t
8. The proposed use(s)and nature(s)ofoperation is/are: [5>U [ l <d Q

to:
to:

b̂ rn -ftr- /wAdings'
NOTE: Attach an ACCURATE SURVEY DRAWING of said property drawn to scale showing existing and proposed building and
structures, the type thereof and their uses, and the distances from property lines.

I CERTIFYTHAT THEABOVE INFORMATION IS TRUEAND THATIAMTHE OWNER OF THEPROPERTY.

I GRANTPERMISSION FOR MEMEBERS OF THE LEONITOWNSHIP PLANNING COMMISSION AND/OR TOWNSHIP
BOARD TO ENTER THE ABOVEPROPERTY FOR THE PURPOSE OF GATHERING INFORMATION RELATED TO
THIS APPLICATION. (NOTE TO APPLICANT: This will not affect any decision on your application.)

G,IUNDERSTAND THAT ALL FEESIN CASE OF CANCELLATION OR FAILURE TO APPEAR ATTHE
WILLBEFORFEITED.

FEE:
OF.OWNER APPLICANTSIl

PLANNING COMMISSION RECOMMENDATION: Havingreview the submitted data, Hereby recommend the Township Board
( ) Approve ( ) Disapprove theApplication for the following reasons ( or with these restrictions)

CHAIRMAN:DATE:
SIGNATURE

TOWNSHIP BOARD OF TRUSTEES: Havingreviewed the submitted data, Hereby ( ) APPROVE( ) DISAPROVE the
applicationforthefollowingreasons:

CLERK:DATE:
SIGNATURE

;; ... .,.ri... ; ....
2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 33 



TOWNSHIP OF LEONI Receipt: 114174 10/04/18

913 5TH STREET
P.O. BOX 375 _
MICHIGAN CENTER, MI 49254

Cashier:
Received Of:

SHELLY
CARROLL ASHLEY

(517) 764-4694
(517) 764-1106 FAX

The sum of: 350.00

ZON RE-ZONE 000092312600100 350.00
Total 350.00

CHECK 1777 350.00

Signed:

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 34 



Real Estate Summary Sheet
10/17/2018 1:49 PMInformation herein deemed reliable but not guaranteed***

Current Class:
Previous Class:
Gov.Unit:
MAP #
School:
Neighborhood:

402.RESIDENTIAL VACANT LAND
402.RESIDENTIAL VACANT LAND
07 LEONI TOWNSHIP

000-09-23-126-001-00
CARROLL BENJAMIN & ASHLEY
WHIPPLE RD
JACKSON,MI 49201

Parcel:
Owner's Name:
Property Address: 38090 EAST JACKSON

4002 4002 METES/BOUNDS SOUTH OF1-94
Liber/Page:
Split:
Public Impr.:
Topography:

Mailing Address:
CARROLL BENJAMIN & ASHLEY
3637 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON MI 49201

Created: / /
Active: Active/ /

Paved Road
Wooded

Description:
THE W 770 FT OF THE N 58A OF E 1/2 OF NW 1/4 SEC 23 T2S R1E 33.94A

Most Recent Sale Information
Sold on 09/26/2018 for 109,000 by MILLER STEVEN D & KATHRYN S.
Terms of Sale:
Most Recent Permit Information
None Found
Physical Property Characteristics

45,228

45,228

RSSUBU

0.000

Improvement Data
None

Liber/Page:ARMS LENTH

2019 S.E.V.: 2019 Taxable: Lot Dimensions:
Acreage:
Frontage:
Average Depth:

45,228

42,676

90,455

2018 S.E.V.:
Zoning:
PRE:

2018 Taxable:
Land Value:
Land Impr. Value: 0

33.94

0.0
0.0

Image

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 35 



1/24/2019 ' Jackson County GIS |Parcel Viewer

PARCEL DATA SHEET - PARCEL ID: 000-09-23-126-001-00
O

SOUTHEAST
CHARTER OF
SECTION 14-T SC-IJT IAEST

EROF
Oil 14

LROF
41 »5

;
<

5
• i

i
>r-

S

\
• JSr- ^

1
te j
p;' \e

: .;::v 5

T.;:• » • • - -
T . . f ' t

i
• )

P

IICR IIC-R n SEST-W. iR OF
SCO 4123

pKTTEAST

^OU&RTEROF
? SECTIC4123

OTEKTEROA
£££JK4F2r

23

H.VEST
TER OF

SECTION23 -r \. • -

OWNER NAME
OWNER ADDRESS
HOMESTEAD
PARCEL ADDRESS
PROPERTY CLASS
STATUS
ACREAGE
GOVT UNIT
TAX UNIT
SCHOOL DISTRICT
LIBER/PAGE

CARROLL BENJAMIN & ASHLEY
3637 SEYMOUR RD
JACKSON Ml 49201

2016
$44,978
$48,994

2017
$41,799 $42,676
$41,799 $45,228

2018
TAXABLE VALUE
ASSESSED VALUE
TAX DESCRIPTION
THE W 770 FT OF THE N 58A OF E 1/2 OF NW 1/4 SEC 23 T2S R1E
33.94A

0%
WHIPPLE RD
JACKSON Ml 49201
402 - RESIDENTIAL VACANT
Active
33.94 Acres
Leoni
Leoni
EAST JACKSON SCHOOL
2128-1134

This generatedmap is provided to allow easy access and visual display of governmental information and services,as well as to
information from other sources.Every reasonable effort has beenmade to ensure the accuracy of the maps and data provided;

nevertheless,some information may not be accurate.The burden of determining the accuracy, timliness.completness.
merchantability,and fitness or appropriateness of use rests solely on you. the user.The parcel data on this sheet was last updated on

January 15.2019.

http://gis.co.jackson.mi.us/TaxViewer/index.html 1/1
2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 36 



Leoni Township Office
913 Fifth Street

Michigan Center, Michigan 49254
PHONE: (517) 764-4694 FAX: (517) 764-1380

Leonitownship.com

PLANNING COMMISSION MINUTES

January 2, 2019

The Leoni Township Planning Commission held a meeting Wednesday, January 2, 2019
@ 6:30 p.m. 913 Fifth Street, Leoni Township Meeting Hall, Michigan Center, Michigan.

V. Beckwith, K. Cole, J. Spencer, D. Helmlinger, L. Maurer & B. Lester, J.
Southworth
None

Members Present:

Members absent:

Persons in attendance: 70+

Purpose of Planning Commission read by Spencer.

Motion by Beckwith, supported by Helmlinger, to approve of the agenda as amended:
To remove from agenda Hammonds Conditional Use on Smith Road

Motion carried by voice vote.

Motion by Beckwith, supported by Cole, to approve the minutes of December 19, 2018.
Motion carried by voice vote.

Open at 6:05 pm.
Closed at 7:10 pm.

Public Comment:

Old Business: Master Plan

Public Hearing Opened: Whipple Rd Property 7:12 pm
Comments from Carrolls
Comments from the public

Rezone property from suburban residential to agricultural for
entertainment venue.

New Business:

Motion by Spencer, supported by Maurer
Roll Call: 5 Yaes:

2 Naes:
Lester, Southworth, Spencer, Maurer, Helmlinger
Beckwith, Cole
John, Judy, JohnBoard Discussion:

Public Hearing Closed 8:19 pm

Public Comment: Open at 8:19 pm.
Closed at 8:26 pm.
8:33 pm.Adjourn:

January 16, 2019
Southworth

Next meeting:
Submitted by:

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 37 



/

Leoni‘Township Office
www.Ceonitownsfiip.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380
Name:

Address:

Phone #:

Subject:

Public Comment:

-

<r . .1/-7Jsft\[ /\* fj

tA-eJ /'-x />

i

\
\ /

l

>

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 38 



7)1^ /// [̂ j I a r-dj ~

r

OL' fr<UAu£r
u

&

Jl)jA\Al04 (\ JsĈ t .ĥ 'Z-O'lLê '

/z&Zfrit&s.flULcdwt A^ Ws - -OAl/tL .

?

l/K-' v

JXJL»
~?- (9^-̂ -

l( ] jjtj&x* Ji&4\- to* "
cAĵ Z csvi

_̂

/UL.Ẑ ZMUZS *

j§LdÂ —
/i>- .

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 39 



Leoni township Office
www.Ceonitownsfvip.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380C M LSName:

3x3
3n

Address: k
Phone #:

Subject:

Public Comment:

/

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 40 



I

£.
(h*L Lo stjiftJLA <

.-»

-AJU \

»

-/ /

ft

AJ2*

/9^(Usn̂ ' ~~

7 &f\i .

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 41 



Leoni‘Township Office
www.Ceonitownshvp.com

913 Fifth St
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380
7soC\Name:

Address: 7cVov C^ S Si

Phone #: S ) 7 )7r

Subject: ug_ - rc?\>T

^ ^OO -O^-72> ~ \ 'XU -(DO\ -&0

Public Comment:

Q-o lOr~~
"??<£> g>-t9 c '̂+qLt -c

7j=̂ rr&\ (V n2 <ppgj, SAJ?/A J

/

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 42 



Leoni ‘Township Office
www.Ceonitownsfitp.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380
c 3<l\S<SQ Al (|Snr\Name:

Address: g/t , I r\c k iTi ,r’rv/

Phone #: (Si^ K / s-ww

Subject: QQ0-O4 - I3fe -QOi -<30

hUizJ-' —Public Comment:

tk* fa ,?.if oC fRr>y^ A^hlSprr&.k ', C*r* rrs\!IC*:tS\ f

thvÛ ' , (XJIA?V iiJ)$A^ —1 yy4

/

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 43 



Leoni Township Office
www.(eonitownskip.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380
i lName: I

t\ U. 4 u4oAddress: KVvau £

Phone f t: 3? ( ~) 2 1̂
Subject: VO,?

Public Comment:

frvi5
fl/Vw'J f'/Vv,?IP/VI J

£1J?

/

2
2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 44 



Leoni‘Township Office
www.Ceonitownsfivp.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254___JPHONE: (517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380

Address: 3_8£A t cA.

Phone #: 57 7 *-( 1 *4 OQ C
Subject: f5e/7 C^n f f o i

i

Aa crt 41

Public Comment:

JO. Jt
(?XV1 ,7 j--CesUf ^ Y

/ '6-J 7-0 v:
jk£ kyz

esrffr-tri~\ CjgA. <3

J -*=» C-C -g- ^ g- QLSI <:oû A.s-
<7 f /g^ 4».c<A &r

jf tsr—f\ irlfaS A , Ar ftd.Ajyuy fV al
V

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 45 



Leoni‘township Office
www.konitownsdip.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE:(517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380
nfyyi J&a*£

70? 4/
Name:

Address:

Phone #:

Subject:

Public Comment:

A'l.

1

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 46 



Leoni township Office
www.Ceonitownsfiip.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-ffSM -FAX: (. 764-1380
Name: /2CN 7

/T-r/ AAddress:
57Phone #:

Subject:

Public Comment:

AAY '^~L̂ r

7

/

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 47 



i t u5

Leoni Township Office
www. feonitowmfip.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380
Name:

Address: U ^ O,

Phone #: 7-9io2- - ( ( j?

Subject: ^ -/W(/1

l

\

Public Comment:
v

QW

tjt
* -Jf)/7JU) SJ

~Zfjh.J> yL (MUe— &VU J%

/

/

!

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 48 



Leoni township Office
www.Ceonitownsfup.com

913 Fifth St.
Michigan Center, Michigan 49254

PHONE: (517) 764-4694-FAX: (517) 764-1380
Name: \ j?X\a , CAO^
Address: &C&CO

Phone #: ~H y~)' Â D ~ ] ^ S ? '

Subject: CU V\\X7xi? -

Public Comment:

£MoJu or\ f43t\X (Txrctfl
VJX<

_
UMAL L.>, CUxaVuy

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 49 



January 17, 2019

PETITION TOTHE REGION 2JACKSON COUNTY PLANNING COMMISSION

SUBJECT:PROPERTY CODE #000-09-23-126*001-00 BEING RE20NE0

FROM SUBURBAN RESIDENTIALTOAGRICULTURAL

The petitioners listed beloware homeownersand property owners in thesite eomfo
d&tetopme&caliedtlie '^anctijafyatBriibiak^thatareoftWhipfiielULittstHfiestoftlie
subject property that was proposed tobe rezoned bythe Leosii Twp PlanningCommission on
January 2,2013by a5to2vote.Also there are petitioners that liveon Whippte Rd.that areon
this list.
Thepetitioneesrequest that this PlatimngCommission reject thisrezmmg request by Leoni
Twp. Briefly, Leoni Township isignoring the Master Plan that hasthis noted property being
proposed togoto'OpenSpace*, it aisowifl bea hardshiptothe citizens in theareafor the
proposed use that has been revealed.The LeoniTownship Wanning Commission gave no reason
farthischaigeastheyamviolathigtheiroimQfdiiiaflcefiequirgfiients.

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 50 



January 17, 2019

Petition to Region 2, Jackson County Planning Commission

Address DatePetitioner

\ / K J l a l^/St S /&oL3
/

(UUL\Mt~Lv1/yiai)^ Iftb&QJlcaucL'Urbi'L
~l ift'b SA MCLTM 4 -̂U /bP

|4 (i ! C/

\ 7 n !

vP̂ - 7/ 9/ ,ll> -')/'-
Zh5 v Sss<2LsCŝ TV . \ Kc i

-3 fc?77 UJÛ OJQJJ SC
f=\\a> —̂ -̂vY~V a

"Zf?, ffhrS) t /nf / Cf

L/ LI /JR
Sn-,cj

i
tnj

l' f
% c\eo L̂ \vr?Pc^ to/

iSTs Lw A-&7 -

/<: <'
J7 / “7/<

'-> 'V LV n eth{(*"-/ <2)/A

-̂ u& 04iC 5^ 7/7 / <SAfj<rY u Any / /—

yf^vu
'
PV Pi^ :

)

"‘/n J,ku& S- \ ZT^ft. -af i j

HU uw 5* TSM
/ /yxo

.// AcUrb ÎdUe ^Anctiut-iif Liis
, CsUcUU.-̂v.̂ --' — • 7*\ 3—i

' 7

LuA/ / <72

7o?pa ^ft V,

-7c26# ( Ay2.̂ u:M-4̂ /S
H _ J8sQf7 /

^ J

/
<2/ 7

70 Co IP/P4 l L I ? M T
/Y /nL & l ~ )J?' /9

iMUliliP i ft#
"Zf

/v i - i b / <?* J

2£gjg
7 z

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 51 



February 18, 2019

Petition to Leoni Township Board of Trustees

AddressPetitioner Date

fl

.1mm
-4-4*. ^0P'1 IV

'VL- i/QVjSf
L>. "It°[[ o Rn ndii/lnjpjV- \. jTJ \ c\

*mi°2& S/W j I

pĝ X/ iQi ( SPT̂J- 2st-tq
^ no/ /

~xr

: o t/A f

m
l e

6? t f£Q

Sô djixniu^ fo.

~l dl°f _lV.

1cn q 5Lnt 4î

^--17«5»

^ -3-yq
^

g-?-;<z
2- -5 ~ t 1

T^r d- s - i q8Mi AxXf-

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 52 



January2,2019

Presentation t©theLeoniTwp.PlanningCommissioft by Mfchaef Maifiard,6076Sanctuary
Drive,Ieoni Twp.

Commissioners:

I am beforeyou in responsetothe Bearingtheeveningconcerningthe rezoning petition by
Beniaminand Ashley Carrollfor property Ms.(XKMJ9-23-126-001-00fromSuburban Residential
f®Agricultural fora e Wedding Venue". Thishaschangedsignificantiysince the Nov.7,2018
unofficialhearingwherepetitionerswould notdivulgethe reasonsfor the rexonirtg request,
other then tobuikia borne, it wasnotedat that timethat
counseled the petitionersonanapproach theycould take throughan optionof applyingfora
Conditional Use"permit This wasoff the record, however.. Though thehearing waspostponed

effort.
WHhthat badi«round,nrsti wouldnkeiosaythat the petition,aswritten cannot andshould
notbeactedonas rezonh^toAgneufturaf^tmldaBowthisoperation,which isacommercial
operation,indearviolationof theAgriarituralzoningcriteria. Under Agricultural,aggregate
minir^ isalsoallowed underSection 42-34S(9)a. There is noguarantee that this property, if
reamedtoAgricultural,wiii not be used inwhole orin partformining,which the residents

Calls Pit for the fast nineyears. Wewant no more it. forthis reasonf requestthatBilytester
excuse himself from participating in this hearing forobvious conflict of interest issues.
Nowletsdiscussportionsof the ^MasterPlan*for ieoniTownshipthatwasdevelopedforthe
Commission in 2012amiapproved bytheLeoniTownshipPlanningCommissiofton11/23/2012
andtheIeoniTownshipBoardof Trusteeson12/11/2-12. On page24ofthisdocumentisthe
Future land Use Plan-Map1,that iixfeatesthefutureuseof the property will bezonedas
OpenSpace{OS). That isdefined on threedifferent pages-2730and37. TheyaUdesignate

applicable tothepetitioned rezoning. Inameeting1had withthetownshipsupervisor,Howard
Unnabary,on December12,2018,1inquired onthezoning desjgnatkm intheMaster Wan.He
responded,verystraightforward that thefuturezoning under the MasterPlan preemptsany
other petitiontodesignate thepropertydifferently.

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 53 



Now t would like todiscuss the use of a "Conditional Use" permit as members of the
Commission advised the petitioner on November 7to consider. In Section 42-245- Conditional
Uses,in the townshipordinances,part (5) and (6) are most noteworthy. In reviewing this
section, it certainly appears that this structure can be legallychallenged and can be misused,as
I believe this Commission has fallen into making improper decisions, by not reviewing the
criteria stipulated as the Commission is required tocomply with. In part (5)b. site will be
constructed to be harmoniousand appropriate in appearance with the existing and intended
character of the general vicinity."{Not possible toattain that.) In part (5)c.-"will be served
adequately with essential public facilities and services." (How to deal with the sewage and road
system. Sewage treatment is tenuous,at best and two lane road system is inadequate to
handle large volumes of traffic. Evening traffic will be disruptive to the our housing
development. Police and fire are both inadequate in this area, which would be important
services to this"Venue". In part (5)d.-"Will not be disturbing to existing or future neighboring
uses."( This issurelya key oneas it will be verydisturbing with lights, party noise and traffic
issues to the residents in the area.) In Part (5)e.-"Will not create excessive additional
requirements at publiccost for public facilities and services." (it will be costly in policeand fire
service, resurface road system and providesewage disposal.) Part (6)-"..recommend such
conditions...to protect the best interest ...of the surrounding property owners." (For the issues
noted it could not be attained.) Finally part (7)- "Approval would be based on parts (2) through
(6) being satisfactorily met." ( How could the parts be met with no legal means tocomply,not
adequate services available and the local community does not want it.
It wasdisturbingduring the December19th Planning Commission meeting toseeone
Commissioner overtly fraternizingwith the Carrolls in the audience in supporting their
application without reviewing the circumstancesor how this hasevolved. I feel that
Commissioner is not supportive of thecitizens in thearea and has prejudged without
understanding her responsibilities.
In conclusion this will have an adverse effect on our property values in our development and
thearea and will change the natural atmosphere that residents that haveexpected in moving
out here. As to sewage deposal,a potential large number utilizing the constructed facility,that
would also include any other party venues, would tax thesystem in dealing withshort term,
large volumes of sewage. The road system would have to be upgraded and thesparse fire and
police protection would have to be addressed.
What is cited by the chairman at the beginning of each Commission Meeting,as the number
one priority of this Commission is: "Promotingand protecting the public health,safetyand
general welfare." If that is lived up to we would not have thecontinued problems coming out
of thisCommission.

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 54 



measures inappran f̂inapplicantwithoutconsideringthe Impact ft hastothecitizens in an
area. Refusals,when appropriate,should be issued frying the signal toothersIn the township

thatapplicantsw®not'getanautomaticapproval processthat twmaSVshould haw been
rejected. Asym»*tom^#^^^stitedto^it»tf êm^^fa,hr«nshed1he
Commission would notapproveapplicants,without meri|that burdensthework tedof the
Board of Trustees.

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 55 



                                                   February 4, 2019 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 

Jackson County Tower Bldg. 

120 W. Michigan Ave, 9th Floor 

Jackson, Michigan 49201 

 

Subject:   Review of Property Code#: 000-09-23-126-001-00, Voted by the Leoni Twp. Planning 

Commission to Rezone Land from Residential Suburban to Agricultural at the January 2, 2019 

Hearing. 

Commissioners: 

 

First to introduce myself, my name is Michael Maillard and my wife is Evelyn.  We have resided 

since 2004 in a site condo complex called the Sanctuary at Brills Lake.  It was intended to be our 

retirement and dream home.  Our home is some 80 feet west of Whipple Rd and we are some 

150 feet from the subject property that was approved for rezoning by the Leoni Township 

Planning Commission. 

For a brief history the property noted has been for sale for some six years and was purchased 

by the Carrolls in September, 2018.  In October 2018, we received a notice from the township 

that the property notice above was the subject of a hearing on November 7, 2018, with only the 

legal description provided.  We and others affected within 300’ of the property did not realize 

the implication until I made an inquiry at the township assessor’s office and found out the new 

owners wanted to build a pole barn and could avoid taxes on the building if they built it before 

they built their home and had the zoning changed to Agricultural.  Then a home owner, the 

Corders, just south of this property had talked to the new owners and they only talked about 

building a home.  They asked why are you requesting to change it to Agriculture?   He was told 

that was what the township advised.  Then it got more ominous when a resident in our 

development related she had talked to a cohort involved with the township operations and it 

was related to her that the new owners of the property were planning to build a structure for 

wedding venues and how wonderful it was.  That brought immediate alarm in our development 

as the community prepared for that hearing.  The hearing for November 7, 2018 found two of 

the Planning Commission had resigned.  At the beginning of the hearing, chairman, John 

Spencer announced that with the two resignations and one commissioner not in attendance he 

was going to cancel the meeting.  With some discussion it was decided to have the meeting 

being informal as they addressed another issue unrelated to this application.  The owners of the 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 56 



property were in attendance and we were allowed comment periods, off the record.  What was 

alarming that some of the commissioners were advising the applicant away from the speaking 

podium on ways he would get approval through a “Conditional Use”, that the audience picked 

up.  The applicant during the meeting still stated while at the podium, he was building a home 

with other structures. 

My expectation was that we would get another required notice, being within 300’ of the 

subject property, for the next hearing.  Not forthcoming, I eventually got an e-mail from John 

Spencer that the hearing would be on December 19, 2018. I requested the required notice and 

to other affected residents, within 300’.  Eventually I received an e-mail that the topic would be 

on the January 3, 2019 date. 

Being very anxious of what was going on, I and others from the development went to that 

meeting on Dec. 19th to find the two commissioners, that reportedly had resigned. were now in 

attendance and repeatedly indicated they had not resigned.  What then transpired was the two 

commissioners now in attendance made an effort for a good hour to have a vote taken on the 

property that was to be considered, now on January 3, 2019!  Chairman Spencer held firm in 

the generated arguments and reinforced that the topic would be discussed on January 3.  Mr. 

Grant Bauman was at this meeting to relate his work progress on required updating of the 

existing township Master Plan to the Commission.  He was even interrupted by one those 

commissioners if he felt a second public notice was required for Carrolls property.  He was a 

witness to this spectacle.  What was alarming was the open fraternizing with the Carrolls in the 

audience by one commissioner. 

The hearing of January 2, 2019 was capacity attended.  It was highly attended by relatives and 

friends of the Carrolls, none of which lived in the proximity of the subject property and most 

not living in the township.  This was also attended by a number of residents from the 

“Sanctuary” and one resident on Whipple Road.  I now would like to comment on the 

document you have received from the township that reflects a 5 to 2 vote for approval of the 

above property be rezoned to Agricultural.  There are some 19 pages in this document, seven 

are petitions to speak from friends and relatives of the Carrolls.  A number of residents living 

close to this property did speak, but no record is contained, other than two pages of very 

sketchy notes that was totally inadequate for proper records of this two plus hour meeting.  

One of the notations was for the Doane’s family at 7196 Sanctuary Drive, that shows supporting 

the rezoning.  In actuality, Valerie Doane made an excellent presentation why the rezoning 

should be denied.  I made a detailed presentation that had to be condensed due to the time 

constraints.  I was not listed as a speaker, which I filled out the proper form and my report 

given to all seven commissioners is not contained in their submittal to the Jackson County 

Commission nor a neighbor representing the Sanctuary, Dennis Richards who also submitted a 

copy of his presentation to the Commission.  I am sending you my presentation on the issues.  

There are also no comments from six of the seven commissioners on justifying their individual 

decision.  The one commissioner, Commissioner Cole presented an excellent analysis of the 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 57 



proposal, which resulted in an understandable conclusion that the request for rezoning should 

be denied.  He is not on record nor is his report contained in the submittal you have received 

from the township.  There were also some late meeting inquiries on who from the township 

had assured the Carrolls would get an approval.  That inquiry was made by Cory Kennedy who 

recently resigned from the Township Board of Trustees to take a position on the Jackson 

County Board of Commissioners.  It’s unclear where the conversation went on that subject.  

What the document now clearly states are that the application for rezoning is for an “Event 

Venue” with no discussion of building a home. 

I would now like to address Agricultural zoning.  The existing zoning- Residential/ Suburban is 

intended to be a transition for “Residential” which our development, the Sanctuary is zoned.  In 

the township’s Master Plan, page 24, this subject property is recommended to go to Open 

Space, which is light residential, wetlands and possible recreational uses by the community.  

There is no Commercial zoning now or being proposed in the Master Plan.  The properties east 

and north are also recommended to be rezoned from Agricultural to Open Space that would be 

consistent with the Waterloo State Recreation Area next to it.   On the north side is the County 

Pit that is zoned Agricultural with a label of “Industrial Vacant” for tax purposes only.  The 

Master Plan is consistent with protecting residents along Brills Lake Road making it Low Density 

Residential.  To address Agricultural an “Event Venue’ is clearly a commercial operation.  That is 

not allowed whether it’s Residential Suburban, Open Space or Agricultural.  It would have to 

satisfy the requirements in the township ordinance, namely Mission Statements, Conditional 

Use.  What zoning to Agriculture allows is the potential for mining, farming and animal 

occupancy.   You have no guarantee what the property or a portion of the property would be 

used for.  The telling comment from Chairman John Spencer, “We can’t predict what the 

property could eventually be used for.”  Then why change it? 

As to nuisance it will be significant with an “Event Venue”.  Late night noise, heavy traffic on the 

restricted road system, late night headlights into the homes for lengthy periods, honking, etc.  

There are numerous issues still to be discussed with the township.  One significant concern is 

the effect on our property values and the worsening issue of the ability of selling ,buying and 

building in our development.  

 

I have looked through the Master Plan for Leoni Township and realize that the visions and 

recommendations are not cast in stone.  However, the township Planning Commission and the 

township Board of Trustees have signed onto this program in late 2012.  I have seen decisions 

made utilizing the Master Plan that has left stress and anxiety to some residents who will be 

affected by decisions using the proposals in this document ignoring the impact it may create.  In 

this case it is ignoring the existing zoning and the proposal in the Master Plan to satisfy one 

applicant which will be a significant negative impact to the citizens in the area.  In regards to 

that statement you are receiving a petition from the citizens from the Sanctuary development 

and citizens along Whipple Rd to deny the proposed change, which numbers 32 signatures. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 58 



Thank you for consideration in the matter. 

 

Michael and Evelyn Maillard 

6076 Sanctuary Drive 

Jackson, MI 49201 

 

                                                      

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 59 



1

Grant Bauman

From: bhawley@jtv.tv

Sent: Sunday, January 6, 2019 8:49 PM

To: Grant Bauman

Subject: New submission from Contact Region2Planning

Name  

  JoEllen Corder  

Email  

  crdrje@aol.com  

Subject  

  Event venue at Whipple and Updyke Rds  

Message  

  

We live on the opposite corner of the planned event center at Whipple and Updyke Rds and oppose this project. Initially the 
owners, the Carrolls, told us they simply wanted to build a house for their growing family so we did not oppose their request to 
zone agricultural. Walking by the property today, we discovered the Carrolls had invited all neighbors except us to view the 
property and discuss the venue. Ben assured us it would have little impact on the neighbors. However, there is limited actual 
building area and the paved parking area and event center will encompass the majority of the buildable land. A line of trees 
screening the building will not obscure lighting or the parking area. They liken this to Sandhill Cranes, however the area is not 
comparable. 
There is already disruption to the area due to Lester Brothers incessant truck traffic during the week. This event center will 
disrupt this community on the weekends. We and others moved to this area because it is a suburban residential area 
designated in the master plan as open space and residential. The event center will not be "quaintly tucked away" on this piece 
of property. Please visit the area. It is dark and quiet for families at night. This is not the area for an event/conference center. 
The only safe bike riding/walking/running outdoor paved area now is Updyke Rd. Please preserve the ideal of this 
neighborhood, respect the homes and property we have purchased as refuges, and stop "creep". 
Thank you, 
JoEllen and Robert Corder 
3625 Whipple Rd 
Jackson, Mi 49201  

 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 60 



1

Grant Bauman

From: crdrje@aol.com

Sent: Sunday, February 3, 2019 5:51 PM

To: Grant Bauman

Cc: crdrje@aol.com

Subject: Jackson County Planning Comm. Property Rezoning

We are writing as owners of property at the junction of Whipple and Updyke Rds, Leoni Township.  We have 
frontage on both roads opposite that property being considered for a zoning change from suburban residential to 
agricultural on the NE corner of Whipple and Updyke Rds. 
We oppose this rezoning. The petitioners, The Carroll’s, are planning to build an event center with the capacity 
of approximately 200 people.  Benjamin Carroll also stated they are looking for a place to house people, and 
may consolidate business with Norris Limousine located on Sargent Rd and owned by Ashley Carrol's mother, 
Carol Norris. 
We have been residents of Leoni Township for over 27 years and moved to our current address at 3625 Whipple 
Rd in order to provide a physically accessible place for our disabled son to thrive physically and mentally.  We 
researched the zoning and Master Plan and noted there was no commercially zoned property in the area.  At the 
time, Lester Brothers was not operating out of Cal's Pit.  We, and the other 5 and more people with disabilities 
living on Whipple Rd and in the Sanctuary, were able to ride bikes, operate wheelchairs, run, and walk down 
both Whipple and Updyke Rds.  Lester Brothers traffic has since removed that safe route from Whipple Rd and, 
in fact, large bike tours no longer include this area on their cycle routes.  This pedestrian traffic, minus the cycle 
groups, has been forced onto Updyke Rd.  People from the community regularly park on Updyke Rd and run or 
walk in the area.  The proposed event center has it's main drive and proposed paved parking area located on 
Updyke Rd near sensitive wetlands.  We recently watched 10 vehicles visit the property.  Just these vehicles 
created a hazard for non-motorized traffic on Updyke Rd and a traffic slow down at the nearly blind corner of 
Whipple and Updyke Rds.  This poses a direct threat to the safety of my son who rides an adapted trike, and 
ourselves who walk with him.  This decreases his physical and mental well-being as well as ours by denying 
free access to the road alongside our property, as Whipple Rd has been made unavailable. 
 
Updyke Rd is not a well-maintained road and lacks street lights.  This is a suburban residential area with many 
families with children and people with disabilities.  There is the Waterloo Recreational Area close by and as 
such, there are many hunters surrounding the proposed event center.  There are red-tail hawks, foxes, coyotes, 
deer, many turkeys, flying squirrels, and more wildlife. There are wetlands bordering the property on both sides 
of the road. There is a Wolverine oil pipeline running through the property.  The property according to The 
Master Plan is residential and open space.  This is what we relied upon when moving here.  If one can't rely on 
zoning, how is anyone to plan a residence for the future? 
 
We are concerned as well, should this event center happen, about light and water pollution, heavy and frequent 
traffic in a residential area due not only to guests but to deliveries, and incidental traffic.  We assume there will 
be a request for a liquor license creating potential for inebriated drivers.  This is a very quiet area, we assume 
the events/weddings will be scheduled late into the evenings. We are concerned about late night traffic on 
country roads.  We are also concerned about "creep".  Lester Brothers was not supposed to operate out of the 
county owned Cal's Pit permanently, yet it is being cited as commercial/industrial for the sake of this zoning 
change.  The DDA has already planned for Ann Arbor Rd and Page Ave to be development areas.  We must 
stop “creep” arbitrarily into residential neighborhoods thereby destroying the desire of long time and new 
residents to remain. 
 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 61 



2

For the well-being of the residents of Whipple and Updyke Roads in accordance with zoning and The Master 
Plan we ask you to deny this request change from residential to agricultural. 
 
Thank you for your regard, 
JoEllen, Robert, and Derek Corder 
3625 Whipple Rd 
Jackson, Mi.  49201 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 62 



1

Grant Bauman

From: burdickjackson@aol.com

Sent: Monday, February 4, 2019 5:47 PM

To: Grant Bauman

Subject: property rezoning

My daughter and her family have lived on the corner of Whipple and Updyke roads for many years.  It's a pleasant, 
relatively quiet rural area with abundant wildlife , trees and bushes.  Now it's in danger of losing all that because of a 
desire of a commercial business to intrude on the neighborhood.  For years deer have wandered through those woods 
that will be cut down in order to build a 200 space parking lot along with other buildings.  People  moved here because the 
zoning gave them a quiet country atmosphere.   In this day and age that is  priceless.  And how much will the property 
values of all the neighbors drop? 
  
There are plenty of other building sites in Leoni Township for business ventures.  Please let this area remain as is. 
  
Sincerely, 
  
Barbara Burdick 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 63 



1

Grant Bauman

From: dcr531@comcast.net

Sent: Sunday, February 3, 2019 8:43 PM

To: Grant Bauman

Subject: Jackson County planning Commission Hearing on Rezoning CZ19-02, 34 Acres in Leoni 

Township from Suburban Residential to AG

Attachments: CZ19-02background.pdf

Mr. Bauman: 

My name is Dennis Richard.  I am writing to request that the following comments be given to the Jackson 
County Planning Commission prior to their February 14th meeting to document my wife and my opposition to 
the proposed rezoning the 34 Acre piece of property mentioned in the attached package from Leoni 
Township, CZ19-02.  I would present the comments myself at the February 14th planning commission meeting, 
however we have a prior commitment that we can’t change which will prevent us from attending this 
meeting.  If you would, please reply and confirm for me that you’ve received this message and it will be passed 
along to the Jackson County Planning Commission members prior to the meeting at which this issue is 
considered. 

Thank you for your time and assistance. 

Dennis Richard 

Jackson County Planning Commission – Public Comment Opposed to rezoning Parcel ID 000-09-23-126-001-00, 
33.94 acres in Leoni Township from Suburban Residential to AG-1 for the purposes of building and event 
venue: 

       First please note that the CZ19-02 package that the Jackson County Planning Commission received 
does not clearly document the January 2, 2019 Leoni Township Planning Commission meeting to capture all of 
the comments made in opposition to the rezoning.  There were a number of speakers who were opposed to 
the rezoning and their comments were not captured.  Many of these comments referenced several Leoni 
Ordinances and Master Plan that did not support the rezoning.  In addition several of those speakers, including 
myself, provided their comments in writing to the planning commission that were not included in the 
documentation of that meeting.  Therefore the Jackson County Planning Commission is not seeing any of 
those comments in detail that were opposed to the proposed rezoning as a part of the submittal package 
received from Leoni Township. 

       Also note that the Leoni Township planning commission meeting notes from January 2nd, do not 
clearly describe how it was brought to light during the meeting that the party petitioning for the rezoning had 
been coached by a township official prior to their rezoning request on how to proceed.  There is an apparent 
lack of transparency in the process which makes it seem as though the entire process is set up as a way to 
back door a commercial enterprise into what is primarily a suburban residential area on small county roads. 

       We are opposed to the rezoning to agricultural district for many reasons.  First, because it is 
inconsistent with the Leoni Township Master Plan which shows this particular parcel of land zoned as open 
space in the future. Such a planned use is intended for open/recreational uses per Ordinance Section 42-152, 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 64 



2

Open Space District.  Therefore, rezoning to agricultural is inconsistent with the township’s own master 
plan.  Rezoning to agricultural is not “closer” to open space as was stated by the township building inspector 
during the January 2nd planning commission meeting.  Instead an agricultural zoning would open the property 
up to many permitted uses not consistent with open spaces or the surrounding residential areas. 

       We are opposed to the rezoning because many of the agricultural uses permitted by the agricultural 
zoning would be inconsistent and not harmonious with the surrounding highly suburban residential use 
including individual residences and subdivisions (Twin Meadows and The Sanctuary at Brills Lake) established 
by the Township along both Whipple and Brills Lake Roads.  Thus a change in zoning to agricultural would 
potentially open this 34 acre property to future uses that would not be in harmony with the surrounding 
residential usage that exists in the entire area.  There are residential properties along all Whipple and Brills 
Lake Roads that would be hurt (both quality of life and property values) by some of the agricultural uses 
permitted by the ordinance.  On the other hand, the Master Plan desire to see this property zoned as Open 
Space would be more consistent with the surrounding residential property. 

       Assuming the final intent of rezoning to agricultural district is for construction of an event/wedding 
venue as described in the application package, Leoni Township Ordinance Section 42-153 Agricultural District 
does not permit the land to be used for an event or wedding venue.  Permitted uses as stated in the ordinance 
are agricultural in nature.  Neither do any of the stated conditional uses in that ordinance permit construction 
of an event/wedding venue.  Therefore allowing such a venue would not meet any of the permitted or 
conditional uses allowed by Agricultural zoning. 

       A conditional use permit for an event/wedding venue would be inconsistent with item numbers 
1,2,4,6 and 9 of the Leoni Township Ordinance Section 42-3 Purpose of zoning.  Among other things, these 
items discuss protecting public health, safety and general welfare; protecting character and stability of zoned 
areas; avoiding congestion on public highways; and prohibiting uses which are incompatible with the character 
of development permitted within specified zoning districts.  A commercial facility such as an event venue 
would certainly be inconsistent with these stated purposes in Section 42-3 Purpose of the zoning ordinances.  

       If the intention is to apply for a conditional use permit for an event venue, such a usage in our view 
is also inconsistent with the intent of Ordinance Section 42-345, Conditional Uses which states that: 

i.      They will not be hazardous or disturbing to existing or future neighboring uses.  We believe that the noise 
from heavy traffic volumes to/from events, people, and possible alcohol abuse will be disturbing to all the 
surrounding residential neighbors especially on weekends and evenings.  Between heavy traffic coming to and 
leaving from events, outdoor noise from large crowds and music, rowdy behavior from the bar like party 
atmosphere, the quality of life for residents all along Whipple Rd. and Brills Lake roads will be negatively 
impacted.  In addition, it his highly likely that residential property values all along Whipple and Brills Lake 
Roads will be negatively affected by having an event venue. 

ii.     The ordinance requires that conditional uses will be served adequately by essential public facilities.  A 
large event venue should not be allowed without adequate roads and township utilities.  It is conceivable that 
a large event could have 100 cars or more attending all arriving at nearly the same time, therefore creating 
excessive traffic with both high noise volumes and congested traffic conditions on the rural county roads in 
the area serving the properties.  This is particularly true for Brills Lake Rd. where the closeness of the houses 
along the road allow no room for driver error.  Also a large event venue serving 200 or more should not be 
allowed to be constructed without access to township sewage services to protect the public health of all the 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 65 



3

residents in the area.  Nothing has been provided to indicate whether the existing sewerage facilities are large 
enough to handle the additional flows. 

       During the November 7th Leoni Township planning commission meeting, Commissioner Spencer 
stated that the planning commission does not like to create “spot” zoning.  It appears that the approach of 
trying to rezone this property then obtain a conditional use permit to establish the event venue simply is an 
attempt to circumvent the intent of the zoning process and effectively create a “spot” commercial business 
zoning within the residential/agricultural usages in the area.  In other words it appears that the property 
owners are attempting  to backdoor a commercial facility into what is currently a primarily residential zoned 
area. 

       The property owners are certainly welcome to build their dream home which might include a pole 
barn for their own personal use on this property.  During the November 7th Leoni Township planning 
commission meeting, the property owners stated that they wanted the rezoning so that they could build a 
pole barn to support the construction of their home.  They are certainly welcome to the area for that 
purpose.  Subsequently however, it has become clear that the true intent is that the owners want to build a 
clearly commercial facility within a primarily residential area.  There is a clear lack of transparency making 
adjacent property owners question how the property will be used, managed and ultimately affect the 
surrounding property owners and property values. 

       While these comments are our own, we know that many people in the area feel very similar as 
evidenced by the petition provided to the Jackson County Planning Commission opposing the rezoning and 
allowance of an event venue. 

We have no desire to see anyone’s “dreams” stopped, but the idea of an event venue in the area of this 
property will be a substantial detriment to the existing residential nature of the entire area and people living 
there by creating a party atmosphere with potentially rowdy behavior, high noise and unacceptable traffic 
volumes.  All existing residents in the area will be negatively affected by such a venue which ultimately will 
lower the value of all the residential property near such a venue.  However the main point is that the rezoning 
and conditional uses for an event venue is inconsistent with and contrary to the allowed uses defined by the 
current Leoni Ordinances and the construction of such a facility should not be permitted at this location. 

Planning commission members are urged to vote to oppose the rezoning and any conditional use that would 
allow construction of an event venue on this property.  If you have any questions, comments or desire to 
discuss this with me, I’m available to discuss this in person or via telephone.  

<<...>>  

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 66 



1

Grant Bauman

From: Valerie Doane <Val@jacksonorthopedics.com>

Sent: Thursday, February 7, 2019 9:06 AM

To: Grant Bauman

Subject: Jackson County planning Commission Hearing on Rezoning CZ-19-02, 34 Acres in Leoni 

Township from Suburban Residential to Agriculture

Hi Mr. Bauman! 

 

As the date of your meeting to approve or disprove the rezoning application 

approaches, I thought I would write you to express to you our opposition to this 

rezoning. 

 

I believe you received a letter from my neighbor Dennis Richards highlighting all 

of our points against this rezoning.  I do not think it is necessary for me to 

reiterate every point in Dennis’s letter; however, you do need to know that we 

completely agree with all of those points noted. 

 

Please do not consider rezoning this parcel of land.  This rezoning request should 

not be on your desk based on the Leoni Township Master plan, ordinances,  and the 

neighboring residential area.  The last thing residents here need is a wedding 

venue located on a small dirt road in the middle of nowhere.  My husband is a 

physician at the hospital and the last thing a patient needs is for him to be 

trapped by wedding attendees blocking our exit/entrance to our home.  This once 

quiet area that we chose to reside in is now overrun by large gravel trucks.  Please 

do not compound our misery by adding a wedding venue that would bring in 

hundreds of cars every weekend.  The trucks alone have caused numerous families 

(some with disabled children) an enormous amount of stress. 

 

As you know, Leoni Township is in the news every week.  Most by their own doing 

over the past 2 decades.  Township authorities have continued to disobey their 

own ordinances and master plans to accommodate any ridiculous request.  By 

definition of the ordinances and master plan, this is a no brainer and should not be 

approved for rezoning. 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 67 



2

As Mr. Richards stated, the application for rezoning that was sent to you, does 

not capture the enormous amount of opposition against the rezoning.  I agree with 

Mr. Richards, when he stated it appears the Carrolls were coaxed by township 

officials as to how to purchase the land and rezone it.  It is evident by all 

attendees at the meetings. 

 

Mr. Carroll’s attendees spoke solely on his character which has nothing to do with 

rezoning.  However, at the November 7 Leoni Township Planning meeting, the 

Carrolls presented their case for a pole barn because they could not financially 

build their dream home at that time.  Mrs. Southwell, one of the planning 

commission members, mentioned a wedding venue at that meeting and was quickly 

dismissed by Mr. Carroll.  He was dishonest from the beginning of this process 

clearly trying to hide his intention for the property.   How is the span of 2 

months, do the Carrolls go from not being able to finance a dream home to being 

able to finance a wedding venue?  They, along with their friends in Leoni Township, 

are dishonest. 

 

I realize that I am a day late with my email; however, I hope you can include this 

with your packet to the commission members.  We too do not wish to discourage 

anyone’s dream in opening their own business but choose a site that will have less 

impact on the surrounding area.  The infrastructure on Whipple Road and Updyke 

clearly is not appropriate for this venue.  This type of venue should be off a main 

road with adequate facilities. 

 

Please I beg you to do the right thing for the residents of East Jackson and do 

not approve this rezoning. 

 

Kind regards, 

 

Valerie Doane & Robert Doane 
 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 68 



Code of Ordinances Township of Leoni, Michigan 

. . . 

Chapter 42 – Zoning 

. . . 

Article III. – District Regulations 

. . . 

Division 2. – Open Districts 

. . . 

Sec. 42-153. – Agricultural district (AG). 

(a) Purpose. The agricultural district is composed of areas of the township suited to agricultural land 
use. The regulations governing this district are designed to retain and preserve farmland and farm 
dwellings, while providing transition from open space areas and rural nonfarm residences. 

(b) Permitted uses. Permitted uses are as follows: 

(1) Agriculture and the usual agricultural buildings and structures, including processing of agricul-
tural products but not including commercial slaughtering. 

(2) Dwelling, one-family detached, subject to the provisions of section 42-352. 

(3) Farming, general and specialized, including nurseries, greenhouses, truck gardening, poultry 
raising, beekeeping and similar bona fide agricultural enterprises or uses of land and struc-
tures, providing sale of products shall be limited to those grown on the premises. No commer-
cial slaughtering is permitted. 

(4) Any accessory use or structure clearly incidental and customary to the operation of the uses 
listed in this subsection. 

(5) Signs permitted under the provisions of section 42-342. 

(c) Conditional uses. Each of the following uses shall be permitted upon recommendation by the plan-
ning commission and authorization by the township board, and subject to such reasonable re-
strictions as may be clearly and specifically set forth in writing by the township board. In every such 
case, the township board shall follow the procedures set forth in section 42-345. 

(1) The raising of domestic animals, fowl and fur-bearing animals (other than farm livestock) for 
commercial purposes, provided that any structure, pens and yards in which animals or fowl are 
kept shall be located not less than 200 feet from any residence located on any other lot or 
premises. 

(2) Livestock auction yards and structures, provided that: 

a. Written consent of 80 percent of all owners of property is obtained within 500 feet of any 
part of the lot on which it is to be located. 

b. No yards or structures shall be located less than 500 feet from any R district or any dwell-
ing. 

(3) Quarries. See section 42-345(9)a. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 69 



(4) Portable asphalt plants. Such plant may be operated in any existing gravel pit in the township 
in a temporary basis after obtaining approval of the township board, provided such plant is not 
less than 1,000 feet from any R district, and provided that such use must be discontinued if the 
township board determines that the use has become a public nuisance. 

(5) Aircraft landing fields or airports, provided that the parcel or tract of land is sufficiently large 
so as not to create a noise or safety hazard to adjacent or nearby property owners or their 
property. 

(6) Permitted home occupations, subject to the provisions of section 42-355. 

(7) Off-site sludge storage facilities and lagoon or water reservoirs. 

(8) Churches, provided they are located at least 50 feet from all adjacent property lines. 

(9) Commercial kennels for the raising, breeding and boarding of dogs and other small animals, 
and including office of a veterinarian, provided that all buildings and runs shall be at least 200 
feet from all adjacent property lines. 

(10) Riding stables and academies, provided that all buildings shall be at least 200 feet from all ad-
jacent property lines and further provided that adequate bridle paths shall be made available 
either on private property or on nearby public lands. 

(11) Roadside market stands, provided that any structure used for such purposes shall be located 
not less than 30 feet distance from the road right-of-way boundary line and have adequate off-
road parking. 

(12) Essential services (see section 42-345). 

(d) Area, yard, height and bulk requirements. See section 42-271. 

(Ord. of 3-26-2001, § 4.1.1) 

. . . 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 70 



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MASTER PLAN REPORT | #19-02 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: February 14, 2019 

 Proposal: Review of the proposed Liberty Township Master Plan 

Purpose 

Section 41 (3) of the Michigan Planning Enabling Act (PA 33 of 2008) states that “if the county planning 
commission . . . that receives a copy of a proposed [municipal] master plan under subsection (2)(e) sub-
mits comments, the comments shall include, but need not be limited to, both of the following, as appli-
cable: 

(a) A statement whether the county planning commission . . . considers the proposed master plan to be 
inconsistent with the master plan of any municipality or region described in subsection (2)(a) or (d). 

(b) If the county has a county master plan, a statement whether the county planning commission con-
siders the proposed master plan to be inconsistent with the county master plan”(MCL 125.3841(3)). 

Analysis and Recommendation 

Is the proposed master plan inconsistent with the master plan of any adjacent municipality in Jackson 
County? 

1. Summit Township. A large area recommending ‘agricultural’ uses is proposed along the Town-
ship’s northern border with Summit Township (see Map 1). A small commercial area is proposed 
east of South Jackson Road and the extension of the Jackson College Campus is also recognized. 
Those areas do not appear to be in conflict with the large area recommending ‘low density resi-
dential’ uses in Summit Township or the smaller areas recommending ‘parks and recreation’ and 
public/semi-public’ uses (see Map 2). The industrial development proposed along the US-127 
corridor mirrors similar development along that corridor in Liberty. 

2. Napoleon Township. Areas recommending ‘agricultural’ and ‘light industrial’ uses are proposed 
along the Township’s eastern border with Napoleon Township (see Map 1). That area does not 
appear to be in conflict with the area recommending ‘commercial’ uses on Napoleon’s draft fu-
ture land use map (see Map 3).* 

3. Columbia Township. Areas recommending ‘commercial’, ‘light industrial’, and ‘agricultural’ uses 
are proposed along the Township’s eastern border with Columbia Township (see Map 1). Those 
areas do not appear to be in conflict with the areas along US-127 recommended for ‘industrial’, 
‘commercial’, and ‘mixed use’ uses in Columbia (see Map 4). 

                                                 
* The Napoleon Township Future Land Use Map is part of a draft Master Plan that has yet to be approved by the Napoleon 
Township Planning Commission. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 71 



MP #19-02 Page 2 
 

4. Hanover Township. An area recommending ‘agricultural’ uses predominates along the Town-
ship’s western border with Hanover Township (see Map 1). Areas recommending ‘low density 
residential’, ‘medium density residential’, ‘commercial’, and ‘institutions’ are proposed in the 
vicinity of Round Lake. Those areas do not appear to be in conflict with the areas recommending 
‘single-family residential’ and ‘commercial’ uses in the vicinity of Hanover’s Farwell Lake (see 
Map 5).† 

5. Spring Arbor Township. A large area recommending ‘agricultural’ uses is proposed in the Town-
ship’s northwest corner abutting Spring Arbor Township (see Map 1). This does not appear to be 
in conflict with the area recommending ‘agricultural’ uses in Spring Arbor (see Map 6). 

Is the proposed master plan inconsistent with Jackson County’s master plan? 

The predominant land use recommended in the Township’s draft future land use plan is ‘agriculture’ 
(see Map 1). Areas recommending ‘light industrial’ and ‘commercial’ uses are proposed along US-127. 
Smaller areas recommending ‘residential’ and ‘commercial’ uses are scattered throughout the Town-
ship, recognizing existing development. Those areas do not appear to be in conflict with the Jackson 
Community Comprehensive Plan that shows ‘residential’ uses in the vicinity of Round Lake and Mirror 
Lake and an area recommending ‘industrial’ uses along US-127 (see Map 7a). ‘Agricultural preservation 
areas’ are shown throughout the Township (see Map 7b); some of them conflict with the Township’s 
proposed areas. 

Staff Recommendation – Based upon the above analysis, staff advises the Jackson County Planning 
Commission to state that, in its opinion, the proposed Liberty Township Master Plan is generally con-
sistent with: 

 The master plans of adjacent Jackson County municipalities and 

 The Jackson Community Comprehensive Plan. 

  

                                                 
† The Hanover Township Future Land Use Map is dated 1973. Staff was not able to locate a more recent plan. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 72 



MP #19-02 Page 3 
 

Map 1 

Liberty Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 73 



MP #19-02 Page 4 
 

Map 2 

Summit Township 

 

  

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 74 



MP #19-02 Page 5 
 

Map 3 

Napoleon Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 75 



MP #19-02 Page 6 
 

Map 4 

Columbia Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 76 



MP #19-02 Page 7 
 

Map 5 

Hanover Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 77 



MP #19-02 Page 8 
 

Map 6 

Spring Arbor Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 78 



MP #19-02 Page 9 
 

Map 7a 

Jackson County 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 79 



MP #19-02 Page 10 
 

Map 7b 

Jackson County 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 80 



  
www.co.jackson.mi.us/county_planning_commission 

 

Jackson County Planning Commission 
 

Staffed by the Region 2 Planning Commission (R2PC) 
120 W. Michigan Avenue • Jackson, MI 49201 

Phone (517) 788-4426 • Fax (517) 788-4635 
 

MASTER PLAN REPORT | #19-03 

 To: County Planning Commissioners 
 From: Grant E. Bauman 
 Date: February 14, 2019 

 Proposal: Review of the proposed Napoleon Township Master Plan 

Purpose 

Section 41 (3) of the Michigan Planning Enabling Act (PA 33 of 2008) states that “if the county planning 
commission . . . that receives a copy of a proposed [municipal] master plan under subsection (2)(e) sub-
mits comments, the comments shall include, but need not be limited to, both of the following, as appli-
cable: 

(a) A statement whether the county planning commission . . . considers the proposed master plan to be 
inconsistent with the master plan of any municipality or region described in subsection (2)(a) or (d). 

(b) If the county has a county master plan, a statement whether the county planning commission con-
siders the proposed master plan to be inconsistent with the county master plan”(MCL 125.3841(3)). 

Analysis and Recommendation 

Is the proposed master plan inconsistent with the master plan of any adjacent municipality in Jackson 
County? 

1. Leoni Township. Areas recommending ‘open space/residential’ uses are proposed along most of 
the Township’s northern border with Leoni Township (see Map 1). An area recommending 
‘heavy industrial’ uses is located along the US-127 corridor. Those areas do not appear to be in 
conflict with the area recommending ‘low density residential’ uses in Leoni and the industrial 
area further to the north (see Map 2). 

2. Grass Lake Charter Township. Areas recommending ‘high density residential’ and ‘open 
space/residential’ uses, as well as and ‘parks and institutions’, are proposed along the Town-
ship’s northeastern border with Grass Lake Township (see Map 1). Those areas do not appear to 
be in conflict with the areas recommended for ‘agricultural’, ‘low density residential’, and ‘pub-
lic’ uses proposed in Grass Lake (see Map 3). 

3. Norvell Township. Areas recommending ‘open space/residential’ uses and ‘parks and institu-
tions’ are proposed along the Township’s eastern border with Norvell Township (see Map 1). 
Those areas do not appear to be in conflict with the area recommending ‘agricultural’ uses in 
Norvell (see Map 4).* 

 

                                                 
* Staff could not find an official Future Land Use Map for Norvell Township. What is shown is an unapproved draft map. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 81 



MP #19-03 Page 2 
 

4. Columbia Township. A large area recommending ‘open space/residential’ uses is proposed 
along the Township’s southern border with Columbia Township (see Map 1). An area recom-
mending ‘commercial’ uses is located along the US-127 corridor and the YMCA Camp Storer 
campus is recognized under ‘parks and institutions’. Those areas do not appear to be in conflict 
with the areas recommending ‘low density residential’, ‘agricultural preservation’, and ‘indus-
trial’ uses in Columbia (see Map 5). 

5. Liberty Township. Areas recommending ‘agricultural’ and ‘light industrial’ uses are proposed 
along the Township’s western border with the Liberty Township (see Map 1). Those areas do not 
appear to conflict with the area recommending ‘commercial’ uses in Napoleon (see Map 6).† 

6. Summit Township. Areas recommending ‘commercial’, ‘light industrial’, and heavy industrial’ 
uses are proposed along the Township’s western border with the Summit Township (see Map 1). 
Those areas do not appear to conflict with the area recommending ‘industrial’ uses in Summit 
(see Map 7). 

Is the proposed master plan inconsistent with Jackson County’s master plan? 

The predominant land use recommended in the Township’s draft future land use plan is ‘open 
space/residential’ (see Map 1). An area recommending ‘heavy industrial’ is located along US-127 and 
areas recommending ‘light industrial’ uses are proposed along US-127 and in the vicinity of the unincor-
porated village of Napoleon. Areas recommending ‘commercial’ uses are proposed along segments of 
US-127 and M-50. Areas recommending ‘high density residential’ uses are proposed primarily within the 
unincorporated village of Napoleon and around the Township’s lakes. Various ‘parks and institutions’ 
areas are also recognized. These areas do not appear to be in conflict with the Jackson Community Com-
prehensive Plan that shows areas recommending ‘residential’ uses in the vicinity of the Township’s lakes 
as well as the unincorporated village and the ‘industrial’ area located along US-127 (see Map 8a). ‘Agri-
cultural preservation areas’ are shown throughout the Township (see Map 8b); some of them conflict 
with the Township’s proposed areas. 

Staff Recommendation – Based upon the above analysis, staff advises the Jackson County Planning 
Commission to state that, in its opinion, the proposed Napoleon Township Master Plan is generally con-
sistent with: 

 The master plans of adjacent Jackson County municipalities and 

 The Jackson Community Comprehensive Plan. 

  

                                                 
† The Liberty Township Future Land Use Map is part of a draft Master Plan that has yet to be approved by the Liberty Township 
Planning Commission. 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 82 



MP #19-03 Page 3 
 

Map 1 

Napoleon Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 83 



MP #19-03 Page 4 
 

Map 2 

Leoni Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 84 



MP #19-03 Page 5 
 

Map 3 

Grass Lake Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 85 



MP #19-03 Page 6 
 

Map 4 

Norvell Township 

 

  

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 86 



MP #19-03 Page 7 
 

Map 5 

Columbia Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 87 



MP #19-03 Page 8 
 

Map 6 

Liberty Township 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 88 



MP #19-03 Page 9 
 

Map 7 

Summit Township 

 

  

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 89 



MP #19-03 Page 10 
 

Map 8a 

Jackson County 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 90 



MP #19-03 Page 11 
 

Map 8b 

Jackson County 

 

2/14/19 JCPC Agenda Packet Page 91 




